

Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities

Nick Pleasant Stantec 4th Floor, 2 Whitehall Quay Leeds LS1 4HR nick.pleasant@stantec.com Our ref: APP/W2845/W/23/3314266 Your ref: WNS/2021/1858/EIA

13 March 2024

Sent by email only

Dear Sir

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 – SECTION 78 APPEAL MADE BY ANNESCO LTD LAND AT MILTON ROAD, GAYTON, NORTHAMPTON NN7 3HE APPLICATION REF: WNS/2021/1858/EIA

This decision was made by Simon Hoare MP, Minister of State for Local Government on behalf of the Secretary of State

1. I am directed by the Secretary of State to say that consideration has been given to the report of Mike Robins MSc BSc(Hons) MRTPI, who held a public local inquiry in person which sat for 4 days into your client's appeal against the decision of West Northamptonshire Council to refuse your client's application for planning permission for the construction of a temporary Solar Farm of up to 49.72MW, to include the installation of solar panels with transformers, a substation, a DNO control room, a customer substation, GRP comms cabin, security fencing, landscaping and other associated infrastructure, in accordance with application Ref. WNS/2021/1858/EIA, dated 22 October 2021. On 12 April 2023, this appeal was recovered for the Secretary of State's determination, in pursuance of section 79 of, and paragraph 3 of Schedule 6 to, the Town and Country Planning Act (TCPA) 1990.

Inspector's recommendation and summary of the decision

- 2. The Inspector recommended that the appeal be allowed and planning permission granted subject to conditions.
- 3. For the reasons given below, the Secretary of State agrees with the Inspector's conclusions, except where stated, but disagrees with the Inspector's recommendation. He has decided to dismiss the appeal and refuse planning permission. The Inspector's Report (IR) is attached. All references to paragraph numbers, unless otherwise stated, are to that report.

Email: PCC@levellingup.gov.uk

Environmental Statement

4. In reaching this position, the Secretary of State has taken into account the Environmental Statement which was submitted under the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 and the environmental information submitted before the inquiry opened. Having taken account of the Inspector's comments at IR1.5, the Secretary of State is satisfied that the Environmental Statement complies with the above Regulations and that sufficient information has been provided for him to assess the environmental impact of the proposal.

Matters arising since the close of the inquiry

- 5. A revised version of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) was published on 19 December 2023 and amended on 20 December 2023. On 17 January 2024, the Secretary of State wrote to the main parties to afford them an opportunity to comment on the revised Framework and revised National Policy Statements (NPS) EN-1 and EN-3. Representations were received from West Northamptonshire Council, Gayton Parish Council and Stantec (on behalf of the appellant). These are listed in Annex A to this decision letter. The Secretary of State has considered the comments raised in these representations relating to the Framework and NPSs. The Secretary of State notes that at footnote 62 the revised version of the Framework now requires the availability of land for food production to be considered, alongside other policies in the Framework, when deciding what sites are not appropriate for development. The Secretary of State deals with this issue in paragraph 33 below. The IR contains paragraph references to the previous version of the Framework; this decision letter refers to both the old and the new paragraph numbers, where these are different.
- Provisions relating to mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) have been commenced for planning permissions granted in respect to an application made on or after 12 February 2024. Permission granted for applications made before this date are not subject to mandatory BNG.

Policy and statutory considerations

- 7. In reaching his decision, the Secretary of State has had regard to section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (PCPA) 2004 which requires that proposals be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
- 8. In this case the development plan consists of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Local Plan (Part 1) (the LPP1), adopted in 2014 and the South Northamptonshire Local Plan (Part 2) (the LPP2) adopted in 2020. The Secretary of State considers that relevant development plan policies include those set out at IR3.5.
- 9. Other material considerations which the Secretary of State has taken into account include the Framework and associated planning guidance (the Guidance), as well as NPS EN-1 and EN-3.
- 10. In accordance with section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the LBCA Act), the Secretary of State has paid special regard to the desirability of preserving those listed buildings potentially affected by the proposals, or their settings or any features of special architectural or historic interest which they may possess.

Emerging plan

- 11. The emerging plan comprises the New Local Plan for West Northamptonshire. The Secretary of State considers that as the local plan is at such an early consultation stage in its production there are no emerging policies of relevance to this case.
- 12. Paragraph 48 of the Framework states that decision makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to: (1) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan; (2) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies in the emerging plan; and (3) the degree of consistency of relevant policies to the policies in the Framework. However, as there are no emerging polices owing to the very early stages of plan production the Secretary of State considers that no weight should be attributed to the emerging plan.

Main issues

Landscape Character and Appearance

- 13. The Secretary of State agrees at IR10.3 that the introduction of panels and other infrastructure, including transformers, inverters and fencing, will inevitably introduce a fundamental change to agricultural land. Considering the scale of this proposal, there would also, inevitably, be a degree of change to the landscape and to peoples' experience of the area. He agrees with the Inspector at IR10.5 that the issue is not therefore whether there would be a material change and resultant adverse impacts, but the extent of those, the approach taken to minimising any effects and then the balance to be taken against any benefits that would arise.
- 14. The Secretary of State further agrees at IR10.6 that the two parcels of the site do not lie within a designated or protected landscape and should not be considered as a valued landscape, in terms of paragraph 174 of the Framework (now paragraph 180).
- 15. The Secretary of State agrees that the proposed development is divided into two separate parcels and it is necessary to consider the value of each independently (IR10.8). The Secretary of State notes at IR10.18 that the difference between the main parties are essentially judgments of effect based on the susceptibility and sensitivity of the landscape, and the extent of visual harm from the introduction of panels in views from the footpaths, the canal and to a lesser extent, identified longer views from outside of the appeal site parcels.
- 16. The Secretary of State has carefully considered the evidence from both the appellant and the LPA, and he prefers the evidence from the LPA as set out by the Inspector at IR 6.7-6.25. As set out at IR6.3 there are two Public Rights of Way (PRoWs) running through the northern parcel in addition to the towpath along the Grand Union Canal and the northern parcel adjoins the canal. IR6.19 notes that both landscape witnesses agree that the effects in year 1 will be significant, and the appellant contends that, as a result of mitigation planting, the effect in year 15 will not be. The Secretary of State considers the significant impact for a number of years, relying on landscape mitigation that will be less effective at certain times of the year, is a major consideration. The Secretary of State concludes the northern parcel is of higher susceptibility to change from a solar proposal and considers medium high susceptibility should be afforded.

- 17. In relation to the southern parcel, for the reasons given at IR10.18-25 the Secretary of State agrees this is of medium susceptibility to change from a solar farm proposal (IR10.25).
- 18. The Secretary of State agrees that the southern parcel is well contained and of only medium sensitivity, leading to a moderate adverse effect in early years and reducing with appropriate levels of set back and maturing of the mitigation planting (IR10.25). For the reasons given at IR10.26-29 he further agrees that the northern parcel itself is well contained in parts, and the alterations to the scheme to set back areas and remove the panels from the higher land to the east are positive in this regard. Nonetheless, notably in the early years and during seasons when the existing and proposed screening would be more limited, the experience of this landscape as a rural area with transport links would be harmed by the proposal (IR10.29).
- 19. For the reasons given at IR10.30-36 the Secretary of State agrees that the effects of the proposal on the landscape character would be moderate adverse reducing to minor adverse over time.
- 20. For the reasons given at IR10.38-41 the Secretary of State agrees that there are three main groups of receptors in this area, the users of the canal, walkers on the PRoWs and residential properties near to the site (IR.10.38).
- 21. For users of the canal, the Secretary of State agrees for the reasons given at IR10.42 that they are receptors with high sensitivity, many using the area for its rural character, and even glimpsed views must be considered to be moderate adverse, major in some places, albeit this will reduce over time as the planting becomes more established.
- 22. He further agrees for the reasons given at IR10.44-45 that approaching in a southward direction, some views, particularly in winter, would open up on close approach to the northern parcel, and quite clearly, crossing the site would introduce users to close range and relatively unfiltered views of panels, particularly in the early period of the proposal (IR10.44). For these crossings, where existing users experience seasonal changes and an open outlook, the panels would be a significant detractor leading to major adverse effects (IR10.45).
- 23. For the reasons given at IR10.46-48 he further agrees that longer-range views from RL/003 and viewpoint SCP14 would have a minor adverse impact.
- 24. For the reasons given at IR10.49 the Secretary of State agrees that at Sandlanding Wharf, the nearest residential property to the northern parcel, there would be a moderate adverse effect, reducing to minor. The Secretary of State agrees that the row of houses along Milton Road, and along Blisworth Road, would experience moderate adverse views in the early years of the proposal, but the effect would reduce considerably with planting (IR10.50).
- 25. For the reasons given at IR10.51-54 the Secretary of State agrees with the conclusions reached by the inspector covering interested parties' concerns.
- 26. Overall, the Secretary of State agrees that this proposal would harm the character and appearance of the area (IR10.60-62) but disagrees with the Inspector's conclusion at IR10.58 and considers there to be major visual harm in the early years of the proposal, reducing to major-moderate harm over time. He further agrees at IR10.60-62 that there is a degree of conflict with Policy S11 in LPP1, but also with that part of Policy S10 in LPP1

that seeks to protect the natural environment and those parts of Policies SS2 and EMP6 in the LPP2, which seek development compatible with its surroundings.

Temporary Nature of the Proposal

27. For the reasons given at IR10.56 the Secretary of State agrees that little weight should be afforded to the potential reversibility of the proposal in landscape or visual terms.

Heritage Assets

- 28. The Secretary of State notes there are three principal heritage assets relevant in this case: the Grand Union Canal (GUC) Conservation Area (CA), the Gayton CA and the Grade II listed building, the Turnover Bridge, Bridge 47 (IR10.64).
- 29. The Secretary of State notes that the GUC CA Management Plan describes the overall character as being defined by the gently curving canal, the modest grassy towpath and the surviving bridges, with its setting being of particular note as it passes through the river valleys (IR10.66). He agrees at IR10.66 that the significance of the GUC lies in its historic and architectural value, which includes the engineering of the contoured route of the canal. For the reasons given at IR10.67 he agrees that the northern parcel of the appeal site is an element of the setting of the GUC CA. He agrees at IR10.68 that the introduction of solar panels would alter the relationship to the canal and appreciation of its embanked form within a rural landscape and that there would be harm to the setting of the GUC. The Secretary of State agrees that the harm is limited to a short stretch in what is a very long linear CA (IR10.69). However, he finds the harm to the setting of the GUC, even in this short stretch, is moderate and in the lower to middle end of less than substantial harm unlike the Inspector who finds limited harm at IR10.69.
- 30. For the reasons given at IR10.70-71 the Secretary of State agrees that the Gayton CA would be preserved.
- 31. The Secretary of State agrees that the Turnover Bridge provides important context to the historic use of the canal and its significance is therefore both architectural and historic (IR10.72). He further agrees at IR10.72 that its historic value and functional purpose is intrinsically linked to the canal, which is therefore the key component of its setting, although on crossing the bridge, parts of the northern parcel would be evident. The Secretary of State finds, unlike the inspector at IR10.73 who finds low harm, that the northern parcel is part of the setting of the bridge and even with proposed planting the introduction of solar panels here would cause moderate harm to the setting of the Turnover Bridge in the lower to middle end of less than substantial harm.
- 32. In line with paragraph 205 (formerly 199) of the Framework, The Secretary of State assigns great weight to the collective harm to the Heritage Assets and concludes the proposal would conflict with Local Plan policy S10(i) which seeks to protect, conserve and enhance the natural and built environment and heritage assets and their settings. In line with the heritage balance set out at paragraph 208 of the Framework (formerly 202), the Secretary of State has considered whether the identified 'less than substantial' harm to the significance of GUC CA and the Grade II listed Turnover Bridge, is outweighed by the public benefits of the proposal. The Secretary of State notes the Inspector's analysis at IR10.117 and returns to this in paragraph 47 below.

Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land

- 33. The Secretary of State notes IR10.76-78 and prefers the findings of the Agricultural Quality of Land Report in line with the Inspector at IR10.78. He agrees there is 10.64Ha of Grade 3a land spread across both parcels and that this is not contiguous and cannot practicably be farmed separately to the lower grade land (IR10.78).
- 34. The Secretary of State accepts the evidence put forward by Nick Pleasant in his representation dated 30 January 2024 that the site was most recently used for animal feed/crops and not for 'food production'. He also notes that the Grade 3a land on this site is not capable of being farmed separately to 3b. For these reasons, and those reasons given at IR10.79-80 and IR10.82-85 the Secretary of State agrees that the loss of BMV land should be afforded limited weight. He further agrees at IR10.85 that the loss of some BMV land conflicts with Policy SS2 of the LPP2.

Other Matters

- 35. The Secretary of State agrees, for the reasons given at IR10.87-94, that for the temporary construction period, the additional HGV movements would be utilising an acceptable route and be of such a level that there would be no unacceptable additional highway safety concerns, nor would the residual cumulative impacts on the road network be severe.
- 36. For the reasons given at 10.96-97 the Secretary of State agrees that future grid connections are a matter for the Distribution Network Owners (DNO).
- 37. For the reasons given at IR10.98-10.99 the Secretary of State agrees that there are significant ecological benefits associated with the proposal (IR10.99). He agrees at IR10.112 that enhanced biodiversity planting and measures identified which represent a BNG of 195%, should be afforded significant weight.
- 38. For the reasons given at IR10.100-102 the Secretary of State agrees that there will not be residential noise impacts associated with the northern parcel (IR10.102). He is also satisfied that there are opportunities to ensure sufficient separation from the recreational receptors and the finalised layout of panels and inverter/transformers, as required by conditions (IR10.102). For the reasons given at IR10.103-105 he further agrees that for the southern parcel the effects should be fully reviewed when the final layout, notably the type and positioning of transformers and inverters, is known through a condition for a final noise assessment.
- 39. The Secretary of State further notes IR10.106 that decommissioning proposals are agreed by the Council and would be secured by condition and at IR10.107 that roof areas would not, on the basis of current conditions, meet the expectations of the significant, rapid expansion needed in renewable energy generation.

Benefits

40. The Secretary of State agrees for the reasons given at IR10.111 that the production of renewable energy, identified as meeting the expected needs of up to 49.72MW and providing for in excess of 13,000 homes, with carbon savings estimated in excess of 11,000 tonnes per annum, should be afforded significant weight.

- 41. The Secretary of State agrees at IR10.113 that the scheme is a temporary one meaning the site could be returned to agricultural use at some stage and considers this should be afforded negligible weight.
- 42. For the reasons given at IR10.114 the Secretary of State agrees that private investment funding should be afforded very limited weight and the creation of employment opportunities limited weight.

Planning conditions

43. The Secretary of State had regard to the Inspector's analysis at IR10.95, IR10.105 and IR10.120-128, the recommended conditions set out at the end of the IR and the reasons for them, and to national policy in paragraph 56 of the Framework and the relevant Guidance. He is satisfied that the conditions recommended by the Inspector comply with the policy test set out at paragraph 56 of the Framework. However, he does not consider that the imposition of these conditions would overcome his reasons for dismissing this appeal and refusing planning permission.

Planning balance and overall conclusion

- 44. The Secretary of State, like the Inspector at IR10.109, finds compliance with local and national renewable energy policy. For the reasons given above, the Secretary of State considers that the appeal scheme is not in accordance with parts of LPP1 Policies S10 and S11 and parts of LPP2 Policies EMP6 and SS2 of the development plan. The Secretary of State finds the appeal scheme is not in accordance with the development plan overall. He has gone on to consider whether there are material considerations which indicate that the proposal should be determined other than in line with the development plan.
- 45. Weighing in favour of the proposal is the production of renewable energy which carries significant weight. Enhanced biodiversity planting and BNG also carries significant weight. The reversibility of the proposal in landscape or visual terms, which carries little weight. The creation of employment opportunities carries limited weight and private investment funding also carries very limited weight. The site being returned to agricultural use at some stage carries negligible weight.
- 46. Weighing against the proposal is the less than substantial harm to designated heritage assets which carries great weight. Visual harm to landscape character and appearance carries major weight reducing to major-moderate over time, and the loss of BMV land carries limited weight.
- 47. In line with the heritage balance set out at paragraph 208 (formerly paragraph 202) of the Framework, the Secretary of State has considered whether the identified 'less than substantial' harm to the significance of the designated heritage assets is outweighed by the public benefits of the proposal. Taking into the account the public benefits of the proposal as identified in this decision letter, overall the Secretary of State considers that the benefits of the appeal scheme are not collectively sufficient to outbalance the identified 'less than substantial' harm to the significance of the heritage assets. He considers that that the balancing exercise under paragraph 208 (formerly paragraph 202) of the Framework is therefore not favourable to the proposal.

- 48. Overall, in applying s.38(6) of the PCPA 2004, the Secretary of State considers that the conflict with the development plan and the material considerations in this case indicate that permission should be refused.
- 49. The Secretary of State therefore concludes that the appeal should be dismissed and planning permission refused.

Formal decision

50. Accordingly, for the reasons given above, the Secretary of State disagrees with the Inspector's recommendation. He hereby dismisses your client's appeal and refuses planning permission for the construction of a temporary Solar Farm of up to 49.72MW, to include the installation of solar panels with transformers, a substation, a DNO control room, a customer substation, GRP comms cabin, security fencing, landscaping and other associated infrastructure, in accordance with application Ref. WNS/2021/1858/EIA, dated 22 October 2021.

Right to challenge the decision

- 51. A separate note is attached setting out the circumstances in which the validity of the Secretary of State's decision may be challenged. This must be done by making an application to the High Court within 6 weeks from the day after the date of this letter for leave to bring a statutory review under section 288 of the TCPA 1990.
- 52. A copy of this letter has been sent to West Northamptonshire Council and notification has been sent to others who asked to be informed of the decision.

Yours faithfully

L. Thomas

Decision officer

This decision was made by Simon Hoare MP, Minister of State for Local Government, on behalf of the Secretary of State, and signed on his behalf

Annex A Schedule of representations

Representations received in response to the Secretary of State's letter of 17 January 2024

| Party | Date |
|---|-----------------|
| Gayton Parish Council | 25 January 2024 |
| West Northamptonshire Council 30 January 2024 | |
| Stantec (on behalf of the appellant) | 31 January 2024 |
| Gayton Parish Council 20 February 2024 | |
| Stantec (on behalf of the appellant) 7 March 2024 | |



Report to the Secretary of State

by Mike Robins MSc BSc(Hons) MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State

Date 15 November 2023

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 APPEAL MADE BY ANNESCO Ltd

against

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL

Inquiry Opened on 23 May 2023 Site Visit 25 May 2023

OFFICIAL

Land at Milton Road, Gayton, Northampton NN7 3HE

File Ref: WNS/2021/1858/EIA Appeal Ref: APP/W2845/W/23/3314266

OFFICIAL

CONTENTS

| GLOSSARY | 3 |
|---|----|
| Procedural and Preliminary Matters | 4 |
| The Site and Surroundings | 5 |
| Background and Planning Policy | 6 |
| The Proposal | 7 |
| The Case for the Appellant | 9 |
| The Case for West Northampton Council | 19 |
| The Case for other persons appearing at the Inquiry | 27 |
| Written Submissions | 34 |
| Conditions | 35 |
| Inspector's Conclusions | 36 |
| Inspector's Recommendations | 55 |
| APPENDIX 1: Appearances at the Inquiry | 56 |
| APPENDIX 2: Documents submitted during the Inquiry | 56 |
| APPENDIX 3: Core documents | 58 |
| APPENDIX 4. Recommended conditions should permission be granted | 62 |

OFFICIAL

GLOSSARY

| BMV | Best and Most Versatile agricultural land |
|-----------|---|
| BNG | Biodiversity Net Gain |
| CA | Conservation Area |
| CEMP | Construction and Environment Management Plan |
| Council | West Northamptonshire Council |
| CRT | Canal and Rivers Trust |
| CTMP | Construction and Traffic Management Plan |
| EN-1 | National Policy Statement for Energy |
| EN-3 | National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy Infrastructure |
| Framework | National Planning Policy Framework |
| GLVIA3 | Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (3rd |
| | Edition) |
| GUC | Grand Union Canal |
| На | Hectares |
| KWh | Kilowatt-hours |
| LCA | Landscape Character Area |
| LEMP | Landscape and Ecology Management Plan |
| LHA | Local Highway Authority |
| LVIA | Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment |
| LVSoCG | Landscape and Visual Statement of Common Ground |
| MW | Megawatts |
| nPPG | The National Planning Practice Guidance |
| PRoW | Public right of way / Footpath |
| SAP | Site Appraisal Photographs |
| SCP | Site Context Photographs |
| SoCG | Statement of Common Ground |
| Υ | Year |
| ZoI | Zone of Influence |

File Ref: APP/W2845/W/23/3314266 Land at Milton Road, Gayton, Northampton NN7 3HE

- The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 against a refusal to grant planning permission.
- The appeal is made by Annesco Ltd against the decision of West Northamptonshire Council.
- The application Ref WNS/2021/1858/EIA, dated 22 October 2021, was refused by notice dated 26 October 2022.
- The development proposed is the construction of a temporary Solar Farm of up to 49.72MW, to include the installation of solar panels with transformers, a substation, a DNO control room, a customer substation, GRP comms cabin, security fencing, landscaping and other associated infrastructure.

Summary of Recommendation: That the appeal be allowed and planning permission granted subject to conditions.

Procedural and Preliminary Matters

- 1.1 The Inquiry was held in person and sat for 4 days.
- 1.2 A virtual Case Management Conference (CMC) was held on 9 May 2022 to discuss procedural matters related to the Inquiry. The CMC was attended by the appellant and West Northamptonshire Council (the Council).
- 1.3 The scheme considered by the Council was altered on submission of the appeal. A revised description and plan, along with a revised traffic management plan was submitted. The appellant confirmed that consultations had taken place on this change, for which evidence was provided. The Council agreed that they considered this sufficient to avoid prejudice to any party. While the scheme under consideration at appeal should be that considered by the Council, in this case, on review of the evidence and accepting that interested parties would have had opportunity to comment on the revised proposal, I confirmed that I would accept the revised plans. All proofs of evidence (PoE) and other submissions throughout the course of the Inquiry referred to the revised scheme, and the description of the proposal in the above banner heading reflects this. The proposal has been considered on the basis of these revisions.
- 1.4 A request for a Screening Opinion was made initially to the Council in March 2021 and subsequently a formal request for review and adoption was made to the Secretary of State in June 2021. In September 2021, the Secretary of State confirmed that this was Schedule 2 development and, referring to comments from Natural England (NE) and other statutory consultees, confirmed that the proposal was considered likely to have significant environmental effects and that an Environmental Statement (ES) was required. This is found in Core Documents (CD) 1.19-1.22c.
- 1.5 I am satisfied that the ES was produced in accordance with the 2017 EIA Regulations, and the information produced has been taken into account in preparing this Report. All other environmental information submitted in connection with the appeal, including that arising from questioning at the Inquiry has also been taken into account.
- 1.6 During the course of the Inquiry there were suggestions of a lack of appropriate consultation or public engagement involving both the Council and the appellant. The Council's reporting in their initial officer report of the full suite of

consultation responses was challenged¹. However, as was pointed out in the Inquiry, this is a matter for the Council and I am satisfied that during the appeal process, proper notification and consultation was carried out and all interested parties have had full opportunity to present their case, either in writing or in person.

- 1.7 The appellant's community engagement in relation to their initial and amended proposals, as referred to in paragraph 1.3 above, were also questioned². While I accept that local residents often feel such schemes are not developed with their full engagement, I have reviewed the notification and consultation processes during the initial application and particularly during the appeal after the submission of the amended proposals. The provided Statement of Community Involvement included details of some 421 leaflets distributed in the Gayton Area in April 2021, and details of the website and webinar consultation, which remained available to the public for review. This, in addition to the statutory notification process of the Council, is considered an acceptable level of consultation.
- 1.8 The matter of the revised scheme was addressed at the CMC and evidence provided to confirm that consultation on the amendments had taken place, and that the process was accepted by the Council. I am satisfied that the consultation in relation to the amendments was appropriately carried out and that there was no prejudice arising from that procedure.
- 1.9 I requested that the main parties, in liaison with the Parish Council, produced a site visit itinerary³. I was able to carry out unaccompanied site visits to view the proposed route for construction vehicles accessing the site, and at school drop off time to the primary school in Gayton. After the end of the presentation of evidence, I carried out the accompanied site visit on 25 May 2023, following the agreed itinerary, including the circular footpath route from Rothersthorpe and the canal marinas and towpath near to the northern parcel. The route also extended to Gayton village and the southern parcel, including the roads either side and views from the rear garden of No 15 Blisworth Road, Three Chimneys, the road towards the school and that around the Church. Further areas covered included the footpath links from within the Gayton Conservation Area (CA) towards the site.
- 1.10 On the 12 April 2023, the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (the Secretary of State), under section 79 and paragraph 3 of Schedule 6 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, directed that they would determine the appeal. The reason for this direction is that the appeal involves proposals of major significance for the delivery of the Government's climate change programme and energy policies.
- 1.11 Statements of Common Ground (SoCG) were submitted to address both the overarching scheme and landscape matters. These and all other documents associated with the scheme were made available virtually and can be accessed on West Northamptonshire Council's Planning Register (West Northamts).

The Site and Surroundings

¹ ID8

² ID3

³ CD5.16

- 2.1 The proposal comprises two separate parcels of land. The smaller parcel, referred to as the southern parcel, would be located on a field to the east of Gayton village, while the larger, northern parcel, comprises a number of fields to the north of the west coast mainline railway and the Grand Union Canal (GUC), which itself lies within a CA.
- 2.2 Combined, the parcels run to approximately 70 Hectares (Ha) and are currently agricultural fields. This is a predominantly rural area, and the village of Gayton, located at a relatively high point, is a small, historic village and is itself a CA. While hedgerows and small woodland areas provide some containment, from elevated positions there are some expansive views, although historic transport routes, the GUC and more recent links, including the A43 and the railway do cut through this landscape.
- 2.3 Two public rights of way (PRoW) run through the northern parcel and form part of a circular route from Rothersthorpe. Further PRoWs extend along the canal and there are routes that run southward towards Gayton, although no footpaths cross the southern parcel.
- 2.4 There is a single dwelling, Sandlanding Wharf, close to the northern parcel, albeit there is also the large marina, boatyards and longboats, some in residential use, along the GUC. There are further properties along the Milton Road and Blisworth Road near to the southern parcel. A caravan site lies between the two parcels.

Background and Planning Policy

- 3.1 At a national level, the drive to boost delivery of renewable energy sources has come from increasing recognition of the impacts of climate change and the need to reduced dependence on fossil fuels. Legally binding targets are set to reduce emissions to Net Zero by 2050. White papers and government strategies have identified that there is an urgent need to decarbonise the energy sector.
- 3.2 In this context, National Policy Statements (NPS), EN-1 and EN-3, identify the approach to delivering nationally strategic level energy schemes. Large-scale solar is not specifically addressed in EN-3, Renewable Energy Infrastructure, albeit it forms a part of the draft update to EN-3, on which consultation has taken place but which has not yet been designated. Nonetheless, although this can be given limited weight at present, draft EN-3 clearly sets out that solar is a key part of the government's strategy for low-cost decarbonisation of the energy sector, and aligns with national guidance and strategies on this matter.
- 3.3 It is important to set out that they are focused on national scale infrastructure, in this case schemes in excess of 50MW output. As a consequence, different policies and approaches apply, particularly in relation to the scale of associated benefits. The regime under the Planning Act 2008 is therefore different, although the NPSs acknowledge that they are likely to be a material consideration in decision making on relevant applications that fall under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). Whether, and to what extent, an NPS is a material consideration should be judged on a case-by-case basis.
- 3.4 The proposal here is for a peak output of up to approximately just under 50MW and therefore falls to be considered under the Town and Country Planning regime, notably section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act

- 2004. This is just below the threshold for consideration as a national infrastructure scheme.
- 3.5 In this context, the development plan includes the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Local Plan (Part 1) (the LPP1), adopted in 2014 and the South Northamptonshire Local Plan (Part 2) (the LPP2). The full list of policies relevant to the appeal are set out in the SoCG. In particular, the Council's reasons for refusal alleged non-compliance with Policies S10(i) and S11 of the LPP1 and Policies SS2 (1b and 1d) and EMP6 (1b) of the LPP2.
- 3.6 The overarching SoCG indicates agreement between the main parties that Policy S11 of the LPP1 was the relevant policy for determination of the development. This policy seeks that renewable energy proposals should be sensitively located and designed to minimise potential adverse impacts on people, the natural environment, biodiversity and historic assets and should mitigate pollution. Also mentioned in the reason for refusal, Policy S10(i) states that development will protect, conserve and enhance the natural and built environment and heritage assets and their settings.
- 3.7 Policies of the LPP2 referred to in the reasons for refusal include the general design principles in Policy SS2, parts 1(b), which seeks a design led approach for development compatible with its surroundings and distinctive local character, and 1(d), that expects suitable landscape treatment as an integral part of the planning of the development. Policy EMP6 part 1(b) states that farm diversification will be acceptable subject to the character, scale and type of proposal being compatible with its location and landscape setting.
- 3.8 The National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) along with the national Planning Policy and Guidance (nPPG) represent the national planning policy approach and are material considerations. The above development plan polices are generally consistent with the Framework, which sets out that planning policies and decisions should recognise the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside and the wider benefits, including economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land, and of trees and woodlands⁴.
- 3.9 National policies clearly recognise the need to plan positively for renewable energy that maximises the potential for suitable development while ensuring that adverse impacts are addressed satisfactorily⁵. The Framework notes that schemes need not justify the need for the energy and that authorities should approve schemes where the impacts are (or can be made) acceptable⁶. The nPPG supports this, noting that increasing supplies from renewable sources where local environmental impact is acceptable, will help make sure the UK has a secure energy supply, reduce greenhouse gases, slow down climate change and stimulate investment. Particular considerations for solar farms are addressed, noting that they can have a negative impact on a rural environment, particularly in undulating landscapes⁷.

The Proposal

4.1 The proposal is for fixed tilt, ground mounted solar panels at a maximum height of approximately 2.67m. There would be inverters, transformers and a sub-

⁴ Paragraph 174

⁵ Paragraph 155

⁶ Paragraph 158

⁷ nPPG Paragraph 013 Ref ID: 5-013-20150327

- station for export of the energy generated, but no on-site battery storage. Subsequent connection to the grid, a matter I address further in other matters below, is reported by the appellant to not form part of this application, but to be subject to further work by the Distribution Network Owner (DNO).
- 4.2 The proposal would include deer fencing and a laser security beam system, but also landscaping, including trees and the introduction of new hedgerows, scrub and other planting.
- 4.3 The site, if operated to the full proposed capacity, is reported by the appellant to be sufficient to provide for some 13,250 homes, saving 11,750 tonnes of CO₂ per annum. These figures were questioned, and I deal with this in my planning balance section below under scheme benefits.
- 4.4 While there will be traffic associated with the construction phase, the indicative programme suggests an average of eight HGV movements per day over a 36-week construction period. The nature of the road network means that the appellant has agreed with the local Highway Authority (LHA) that articulated HGV deliveries will only be to the southern parcel with smaller, rigid vehicles delivering to the northern parcel. Operationally, the site will only have the occasional visit for maintenance purposes.
- 4.5 The solar farm is proposed for a period of 40 years, with conditions being sought to ensure decommissioning to remove all operational equipment and returning the site to its present agricultural use.

The Case for the Appellant

5.1 The full submission made by the appellant can be found at ID14, the material points are as follows:

Introduction

- 5.2 The issues between the main parties to the appeal are strikingly narrow as it is agreed that the only potential reason for refusal is based upon landscape and character.
- 5.3 Within that, it is agreed that there are no significant effects on any of the landscape character areas as a whole, whether at national, regional or even local level⁸. It is agreed that there are no significant effects on longer range views⁹ and, in character terms, that the site is not designated and is of 'medium' landscape value.
- 5.4 It is agreed that the Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) methodology is sound, with the only differences between landscape witnesses being matters of reasonable differences in professional judgement.
- 5.5 Whilst the Council alleges some heritage harm, contrary to the appellant's case of no harm, this is said to attract only limited weight and is agreed to be outweighed by the public benefits. The harm relates to the Grand Union Canal CA and the Grade II listed Turnover Bridge (Bridge 47).
- 5.6 It is agreed that there is no harm to the Gayton CA and no publicly accessible views of the appeal site from the Gayton CA. There are no other harms alleged by the Council.
- 5.7 The benefits of generating renewable energy are agreed to be, at least, significant. It is also agreed that significant weight should attach to the ecological enhancements that would be brought about by the scheme 10.
- 5.8 Interested parties raised concerns in relation to a number of other issues such as loss of agricultural land, highways objections, including proximity to the Gayton School, grid connection and impact on tourism. The appellant's professional evidence demonstrates an absence of effect on highways, as agreed by the Highway Authority, the HGV route does not pass the school, grid connection is not a matter for this appeal, although early connection is secured, there is no evidence of any effect on leisure or tourism and the loss of BMV land, around 10Ha split across both parts of the site, has been taken into account but is afforded limited weight by the Council and very limited weight by the appellant.

Landscape Character

5.9 The focus at the Inquiry on the points of difference between the witnesses should not obscure the extensive areas of agreement listed in the SoCG. In particular, it is agreed that there would be no significant adverse effects on any of the character areas as a whole, be that national, regional or local.

⁸ CD5.4 Landscape SoCG para 1.7 and 1.11

⁹ CD5.4 Landscape SoCG para 1.26

¹⁰ CD5.7 para 5.10

- 5.10 Further, it is agreed that there would be beneficial effects on two landscape receptors, canopy trees and hedgerows.
- 5.11 The only points of difference in relation to negative effects on landscape receptors relate to open fields / land use in relation to the susceptibility and therefore sensitivity of this element and the magnitude of change.
- 5.12 In relation to susceptibility and therefore sensitivity, given an agreed medium value for the site, the appellant considers the site to be of low susceptibility and, on a precautionary basis, of medium sensitivity, whereas the Council considers that the site has a high susceptibility and a high sensitivity. However, the 'high' rating is out of kilter with relevant guidance on this subject provided by Natural England (NE)¹¹ and endorsed by the authors of GLVIA¹² in which characteristics of this appeal site fit far more closely with characteristics associated with those types of landscapes said to have a lower sensitivity to solar development including: larger open fields; not being rugged, steep or natural in land cover; not being parkland; that the site includes major infrastructure such as the A43 and West Coast Mainline, roads and tracks; that it is not remote or wild; and that there are no important designated views into the site and no landscape designations.
- 5.13 Accordingly, the appellant's evidence should be preferred as being based upon the most relevant guidance and, as a matter of common sense, the landscape is not right at the top end of sensitivity.
- 5.14 In this regard, the appellant and those who reviewed the LVIA and updates on behalf of the Council, were eventually in broad agreement, with that review finding that the site had a medium sensitivity or medium-high in some places 13. The Southern Green review finds that the site and immediate vicinity "vary between low to medium sensitivity depending on the presence of local negative detractors such as compounds, the railway corridor and major roads, with associated loss of tranquillity". The Council's witness is therefore something of an outlier in ascribing a high susceptibility and sensitivity when all other experts have determined that the site should be better described as having around a medium sensitivity.
- 5.15 In relation to magnitude of change, the Council's assessment that there would be a large magnitude of change at Year (Y) 1 and not diminishing at all at Y15 again skews their conclusions towards the more severe end of the spectrum. At site level they concluded a major adverse effect at Y1 and remaining major at Y15. This, the appellant considers, fails to reflect a balanced approach, where, on the Councils own assessment, two of the site landscape receptors experience beneficial rather than negative effects, and fails to reflect the GLVIA recommended inputs into magnitude, which would include consideration of the temporary nature of the scheme and its reversibility.
- 5.16 The Council accords solar development the highest level of change and harm, but this shows that they have not applied the methodology in a way which would acknowledge that other developments such as housing or other built form would have an even greater impact. As such, the Council's judgements are skewed unreasonably, the appellant states, towards the higher end and do not reflect the

¹¹ CD4.12

¹² CD4.11 Q41

¹³ CD3.2 para 1.5

true impacts of this type of development, which would see panels only up to 2.67m. This is much lower than housing and naturally of a much lower volumetric or spatial impact than housing as well as including large areas of natural planting, including wildflowers, scrub and hedgerow, and leaving room for an ongoing agricultural use in the form of sheep grazing. It is therefore not a site wide, complete loss of agricultural use as suggested by the Council.

Visual effects

Canal

- 5.17 The Council agreed in cross examination that given the 26 miles of canal in South Northamptonshire and 6 miles in this character area, the appeal site and this location was not one of the most tranquil and remote parts of the canal, particularly given the A43 and West Coast Rail Line. It is agreed that there are no key views into the site and that the views that do exist are filtered by an existing hedgerow.
- 5.18 It is accepted by the appellant that there are some gaps in that hedge, as with any hedgerow, but the site is demonstrably not contributing to any sense of openness or "long views out across the countryside" in this location which instead, is achieved by looking to the south towards Gayton and along the key views that are identified. Further, those gaps will be infilled as part of the landscaping plan in the plants are also set back beyond 10 and 20m of scrub planting and around 30-40m from the hedge in total in this location, which further contributes to reducing views of the proposal. Whilst the Council criticised the heights that might be achieved by the proposed species mix on the landscape strategy plan, this is merely a strategy plan at this stage, it is not a planting plan and a proposed condition secures final details, which the Council can input into to agree an appropriate species mix and management regime.
- 5.19 Again, the Council's views that the effects would not reduce over time are not in accordance with others. The appellant considers that the effects would reduce from moderate at Y1 to minor at Y15 for users of the canal, whereas the Council sees no reduction at all. This is, in the appellant's view, plainly unrealistic. It is also again contrary to the Council's own review of the LVIA, which concluded that planting would assist to mitigate effects as the planting matures¹⁶.

Close range viewpoints on public rights of way adjoining and in the site.

5.20 As a matter of context and common sense, it would be striking if any major development proposal did not cause significant effects when standing in the site or on the site boundary. As the Council agreed, the receptor, that is the person walking the route, should be assessed and not the static photo or viewpoint. With that in mind, the time spent walking through the site is limited on both routes, which are longer routes broadly between the canal and Rothersthorpe, or parts of a circular walk or route from Gayton to Rothersthorpe. Regardless of the route, the time spent in the site itself is limited and in relation to both PRoWs through the site, views diminish very rapidly upon leaving the site given topography and, in relation to views of the appeal site from the north.

¹⁴ CD4.18 para 31

¹⁵ CD5.11

¹⁶ CD3.2 para 1.6

- Intervening woodland and vegetation mean that there is no lengthy experience of walking towards a solar farm.
- 5.21 It should be noted that the appellant does not consider that both parcels could be seen together in views from the north on PRoWs LA3 and LA4.

Walkers on roads

- 5.22 It was agreed that no significant effects would be experienced by passengers or drivers of vehicles. However, the Council argued there would be an effect on walkers using Milton Road and Wrights Lane.
- 5.23 Simultaneous or sequential views may be experienced when travelling on Milton Road. However, this route is most unlikely to be undertaken by foot given the lack of footway, and, if it is used by walkers, their attention is likely to be focussed upon the traffic and not on any scenery available over the hedges on either side of the road. Further, any view is oblique, fleeting and partial.
- 5.24 In relation to Wrights Lane, the majority of this route does not afford views of the northern parcel. For a short stretch of the southern section towards Gayton, part of Field E in the northern parcel is visible as part of an oblique view to the east. The higher portion of this field is most visible, and the appellant has amended the scheme to pull the panels down the hill and away from the most visible areas of this field. In context, this is not a significant effect, and as part of the wider journey on Wrights Lane, the experts agree the view is intermittent, partial and oblique¹⁷. The view also takes in the West Coast rail line and the periphery of Northampton including development on the M1 corridor.

Viewpoint SCP14¹⁸

5.25 The Council witness agreed in cross examination that this should more properly have a medium value as a view. The appellant contends that this has to be right, as 'high' value views in the agreed methodology would be of national importance. The view is of attractive countryside, but it is neither from within, or to a designated landscape. In paragraph 1.37 of the SoCG on landscape the experts agreed that this right of way affords opportunities for longer range, intermittent and oblique, partial views of the northern part of the appeal site. Essentially, the view is very similar as that from Wrights Lane but is even further from the appeal site and therefore the site is an even smaller component in a relatively busy view.

¹⁷ Landscape SoCG para 1.36

¹⁸ Site Context Photographs (SCP)

Viewpoint SCP28

- 5.26 The Council witness picked out this viewpoint from a longer route moving through this landscape, which takes in SCP7, 8 and 29, none of which he considered to give rise to significant effects. This says much about an approach which has focussed upon the photo viewpoint rather than the walk as a whole. When looking at the walk as a whole, neither witness identifies a significant effect, the appellant states negligible/minor and the Council minor/moderate. It was agreed in cross examination that the view is part of a sequence where the land rises and falls, and this was at the worst point.
- 5.27 It should be noted that it is viewpoint SCP29 which is most akin to the important view from the Gayton Conservation area and not SCP28 which is much further outside the CA, although both are in fact outside the CA. Neither witness considers there to be any significant adverse effect from SCP29, and SCP28 is too far from the CA to be sensibly associated with it, given it is the second field away from the boundary.

Landscape and visual overall

5.28 In the round, there are some landscape effects from the scheme. However, these are remarkably limited given its scale. No landscape designations affect the site, and it is not a valued landscape in Framework terms. The topography and vegetation act to largely screen the site from the most sensitive element, being the GUC and its users. The Council's main concern appears to be that the hedge planting will not be effective. However, there is no evidence to support that view. Gapping up a hedgerow is commonplace and a management plan will be in place to ensure that the planting takes or, if it doesn't, that it is replaced and maintained. Otherwise, the Council's approach appears to have been to assume a sensitivity which in reality does not exist and is not in line with relevant NE guidelines, or the views of other landscape experts assessing the site.

Other matters

Highways and HGV routing

- 5.29 The Inspector and Secretary of State have the transport statement¹⁹ and supplementary note²⁰ provided by Motion together with the swept path analysis for the sharp bend in Gayton²¹. Further, the Council raises no issues in relation to highways and the Highway Authority does not object subject to the imposition of conditions securing a construction management plan. That condition is proposed and agreed between the parties, it will include securing a route for HGVs and appropriate hours of working during the construction phase amongst other things.
- 5.30 Together, these documents demonstrate:
 - An absence of any significant or severe effect on the highway as a result of traffic generated during either construction or operation.

¹⁹ CD 1.26

²⁰ ID9

²¹ ID10

- The construction phase is 36 weeks. It will generate 8 construction vehicles per day. Spread over the day and timed to arrive separately through the management plan, this is very far from a severe impact.
- An absence of any harm caused by HGV construction routing. The route avoids sensitive areas, does not pass any schools, does not require HGVs to cross any bridge with a weight restriction²² and is wholly adequate for the 8 movements a day.
- An HGV is well capable of making the tightest turn on the route at the bend in Gayton as demonstrated by the swept path. This works in both directions.
- 5.31 If the Secretary of State considers it necessary to impose a condition requiring a survey of the condition of the road and that the appellant be asked to put the highway back into this condition following the construction phase, the appellant is content to agree to such a condition and one has been drafted.

Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land

- 5.32 10.46Ha of the site is Grade 3a and therefore BMV land. However, the land does not in fact function as BMV, as the mapping shows that the parcels of 3a are within the broader 3b site and are not capable of being farmed in any different way to the remainder of the site, which is 3b, non BMV land. They are not usable or meaningful in extent²³.
- 5.33 The threshold for consulting NE as a potential significant loss of BMV land is 20Ha; this proposal results in a loss of just over half of that quantum. The loss therefore cannot be described as significant in planning terms and, rightly, the Council did not pursue this as a reason for refusal. Indeed, the debate between expert planning witnesses was between whether very limited or limited weight should be attached to this harm.
- 5.34 In so far as this relates to a wider point in relation to agricultural land loss, there is no policy support for this and in any event, there remains the potential for agricultural use, if not arable use. The Framework specifically refers to the economic benefits of BMV rather than agricultural land per se. Further, as agreed by the Council, the appellant considers that it is common sense, and acknowledged within draft EN-3, that solar farms of this scale are likely to need to be built on agricultural land; the aim is to avoid BMV and other designations. In this context, the less than significant loss of BMV at 10Ha is only afforded negative weight, at the lowest end of the spectrum.
- 5.35 In so far as this relates to an objection from the tenant farmer about loss of business, planning is about land use in the public interest rather than private business interests. There is a wider economic benefit associated with agricultural land and BMV in particular, as referred to in the Framework at paragraph 174(b).

Decommissioning

5.36 Interested parties raised issues relating to decommissioning. However, the Council and appellant have drafted an appropriate condition to require a

²² Smaller vehicles will be used over the Turnover listed bridge in response to CRT concerns that this bridge could in the future have a weight restriction.

²³ CD1.2 para 7.26-7.28 Fig 7.1

decommissioning strategy within an appropriate time frame prior to the end of the 40-year period. There is no reason to suspect that the appellant will not abide by the condition requiring the site to be dismantled at that point.

Noise / tranquillity

- 5.37 The appellant has undertaken a thorough noise assessment²⁴, which assessed noise sensitive receptors, including residential canal boats and dwellings, and concluded that internal noise criteria would be met for sensitive receptors. The BWB rebuttal note²⁵ confirms that noise levels would also be met for garden areas.
- 5.38 Finally, the appellant has submitted a tranquillity assessment²⁶ to consider receptors on PRoWs including through the site and on the GUC towpath. Again, the conclusion is that noise generation would be below background levels as the area is demonstrably not tranquil given the nearby presence of the West Coast mainline and the A43.
- 5.39 No other technical noise evidence has been presented to the Inquiry and the Council's only comment by their witness in cross examination was that he wasn't convinced that BWB had assessed receptors at the western end of the northern parcel. However, as explained by the appellant, this is not correct, the plan of survey locations within the assessment shows a number in and around the western end of the site including on the PROW and the GUC towpath. Accordingly, there has been no evidence to undermine BWB's assessment that there are no material negative noise effects associated with the appeal scheme, merely assumptions which are not supported by evidence.
- 5.40 There is no proper basis either for the imposition of a condition requiring yet further noise surveys or a finding of any harm in this regard. Particularly, there is no basis for assuming conflict with paragraph 100 of the Framework which should be seen as referring to PRoWs as a physical, usable resource rather than a policy which takes in amenity concerns this is more accurately paragraph 174(e) and a reference to noise pollution and needs to be seen in the context of the Council's planning witness agreement that the Council did not take issue with the part of Policy S11 which referred to minimising pollution.

Grid connection and cabling

5.41 The appellant has a grid connection offer, which permits connection to the grid from late 2024. As suggested by interested parties, many projects are currently facing lengthy delays to obtain a grid connection offer or are provided within offers in around 10 years' time when it is hoped that the grid will be strengthened and able to take the additional generating capacity. This is therefore a notable benefit of this scheme in that it can provide renewable energy in the immediate future, rather than providing a benefit much further down the line. Rather than being a negative, this is a significant positive and

²⁴ CD 2.10

²⁵ CD 2.11

²⁶ CD 5.5 Appendix 1

- sites which benefit from early grid connections should be rightly prioritised in order to make best use of the grid capacity that exists at present.
- 5.42 Cabling between sites is not part of this application, nor is connection from the site parcel(s) to the grid. The latter will be undertaken by the DNO under permitted development rights. If any further application is required for cabling infrastructure in the future, the appropriate consenting regime will determine it.

Heritage

- 5.43 The Council asserts that there is a low level of less than substantial harm to the GUC and to the Grade II listed Turnover bridge (bridge 47), for which it collectively affords limited weight.
- 5.44 The careful note from the appellant's heritage expert²⁷ explains that there are areas of the setting which do positively contribute to the significance of the GUC as a heritage asset (see para 4.1.9). However, that cannot be applied to the appeal site. No identified 'important views' within the CA Management Plan²⁸ include views of the appeal site. To the contrary, the existing hedgerow between the northern parcel and the GUC towpath is an '*important hedgerow*' and will be maintained and enhanced as part of the proposals.
- 5.45 The heritage statement explains that the site is an incidental and barely perceptible aspect of the setting. In the appellant's view, the northern parcel does not contribute anything to the significance of the GUC CA and therefore any harm to the site is not to be equated to harm to the significance of the canal as a heritage asset²⁹.
- 5.46 The GUC Management Plan does make reference to the importance of landscape to the setting of the canal. The appellant accepts that, but it is not equally true for all parts of the setting for the full 26-mile stretch of the canal through the authority area. That is why the management plan has identified what truly is 'important' to the significance of the canal and it does not include the appeal site or views towards it. Further, the general amenity provided by the landscape surrounding the canal should not be conflated with heritage significance, the two are separate and in terms of visual receptors experiencing any harm to amenity, this falls to the landscape evidence to assess. This applies equally to the bridge.

Planning Policy

- 5.47 The planning witnesses agreed that the main policy against which the proposals should be assessed is Policy S11. The other parts of policies referred to in the reason for refusal are all references to protecting the landscape character of the area and add little to the policy test in S11.
- 5.48 Policy S11 needs to be read in the context of the plan as a whole and specifically its own supporting text. That text refers expressly back to Objective 1 of the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) which is "To minimise demand for resources and mitigate and adapt to climate change, by:... Encouraging renewable energy production in appropriate locations".

²⁷ CD5.5 Appendix 2

²⁸ CD4.18

²⁹ CD5.5 App 2 para 4.1.20

- 5.49 Policy S11 therefore needs to be read as a policy which seeks to implement the objective of seeking to encourage renewable energy schemes. It is also the tool by which the plan determines whether a location is "appropriate".
- 5.50 In doing so, two tests are agreed to arise (1) that the proposal be sensitively located and (2) that it be designed to minimise harm to a range of factors, the only ones of which are said to be in play relate to landscape, visual receptors and heritage (in the limited sense covered above, albeit that the Council's evidence does not assert that heritage should be a reason why Policy S11 should be found to be breached). The other factors in S11 are either not in play (pollution) or there is an agreed benefit (biodiversity). These should be taken into account on a balanced approach to Policy S11.
- 5.51 In relation to whether the proposals are sensitively located the Council relies upon (1) landscape evidence, (2) the GUC and listed bridge as heritage assets and (3) the GUC as a green infrastructure corridor, for their argument that the site is not sensitively located because it is itself a sensitive location.
- 5.52 The first, landscape, is agreed to be bound up with the landscape evidence. The heritage argument does not greatly assist the Council as even on its case the harm attracts limited weight and, on the appellant's professional evidence, which represents the only heritage expert to provide evidence to the Inquiry, the harm is instead, nil.
- 5.53 In relation to the green infrastructure corridors and Policy NE3. The Council does not allege any conflict with this policy, nor could it sensibly do so, as green infrastructure policies seek to protect green infrastructure as a resource or asset. Green infrastructure is not a landscape designation and there is no associated "setting". The site is not within a green infrastructure corridor and whilst it adjoins the GUC corridor, the landscape proposals are to add additional planting and therefore green infrastructure in this location and thereby expand the corridor and increase the value of the green infrastructure as an asset. There is no direct or indirect harm to the green infrastructure.
- 5.54 The Council's argument boils down to the northern part of the site sharing a boundary with the GUC. However, the area hosts 26 miles of canal, and it cannot be that development is banned on both sides of the canal for the whole stretch. Instead, the sensitive parts of the canal should be avoided, which the appeal site does.
- 5.55 Further it is right that the appellant has taken steps to sensitively locate the development within the site itself by amending the scheme to pull panels away from the highest part of Field E, by including planting along the GUC corridor and large areas of scrub in this location to provide set back. These points also go towards satisfying the second part of Policy S11 in relation to minimising effects. Steps have been taken to minimise potential effects and, as agreed by the Council, the policy cannot be read as requiring effects to be eliminated altogether.
- 5.56 Draft EN-3 is agreed to be relevant and includes a recognition that solar projects are likely to cause significant impacts, largely in rural areas, but are nevertheless a key part of Government policy to address climate change, energy security and achieve net zero. In fact, the proposals are to increase solar energy production five-fold. The parties agree that at least significant weight should attach to the benefits of renewable energy generation in light of the national policy context.

- While it was agreed that there would be significant landscape effects in Y1, the appellant considers that this reduces below the point of significance by Y15, so there will be no residual significant effects.
- 5.57 The parties are also in agreement that the proposals represent an opportunity to secure meaningful biodiversity net gain in the order of 195% on the site, a benefit which should also be afforded significant weight.
- 5.58 The proposal will also generate economic benefits in terms of effects arising from the construction and decommissioning phases and smaller economic effects generated during the lifetime of the project associated with monitoring and maintenance of the panels, landscaping and the output of the scheme.
- 5.59 The appellant rightly notes the long-term landscape benefits arising out of the landscaping scheme, which will endure beyond the lifetime of the project. The Council's concern that the trees might also come down in 40 years with the panels is, the appellant states, fanciful, and would likely require a felling licence.

Conclusions

5.60 Overall, Policy S11 is reflective of government policy in terms of being permissive of renewable energy projects but encouraging them to be on less sensitive sites by avoiding designations and avoiding higher quality agricultural land. This site fits the brief. It is therefore in compliance with the development plan, and government policy and should be granted without delay in line with paragraph 11(c) of the Framework.

The Case for West Northampton Council

6.1 The full submission made by West Northampton Council can be found at ID13, the material points are as follows:

Background

- 6.2 The Council accept that the site is not part of a designated landscape or a valued landscape for the purpose of the Framework, paragraph 174. There would be no significant impacts at a national or regional character area level and no significant impacts at a county or district level character area looked at as a whole.
- 6.3 There are two PRoWs through the northern parcel in addition to the towpath along the Grand Union Canal, although there are none which affect the southern parcel. Nether part of the site is located within a CA, although the canal itself lies within a CA and the northern parcel adjoins the canal. The bridge over the canal is Grade II listed.
- 6.4 Following resolution by the Council to refuse planning permission in October 2022, the appellant altered the scale and nature of the scheme, including the reduction of panels to the eastern part of the northern site and increased levels of landscaping.
- 6.5 A landscape SoCG has been agreed with the remaining differences about the level of impacts at the local and site levels. It is agreed that effects assessed as moderate or above are 'significant' for the purpose of decision-taking.
- 6.6 These submissions address the two main issues identified by the Inspector.

Main Issue 1 - the effect on the landscape character and appearance.

Landscape Character

- 6.7 The Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (3rd Edition) (GLVIA3)³⁰ states at paragraphs 2.11 and 2.12 that landscape is important because it provides "a shared resource which is important in its own right as a public good", provides "the setting for day to day lives for living, working and recreation", allows "opportunities for aesthetic enjoyment [and provides] a sense of place", and has "continuity with the past through its relative permanence". GLVIA3 also states at paragraph 5.26 that "the fact that an area of landscape is not designated either nationally or locally does not mean that it does not have any value".
- 6.8 The methodology used in the LVIA is agreed³¹ and the Council has adopted its vocabulary for the sake of consistency. Both experts have sought to be objective and transparent, while recognising that professional judgment plays a large part

³⁰ CD4.9

³¹ CD1.24a Appx A.1

- in assessment. The LVIA terminology allows a 'sense check' on the components and outcomes of the process.
- 6.9 For example, the definition of adverse landscape effects are set out in CD1.24a Appendix A in Table 1.7:
 - Negligible Alterations that result in a very slight deterioration to the existing landscape resource, not uncharacteristic within the receiving landscape.
 - b) Minor Alterations that result in a limited deterioration of the existing landscape resource. Characteristic features would be lost to a limited degree.
 - c) Moderate Alterations that result in a partial deterioration of the existing landscape resource. Valued characteristic features would be partially lost.
 - d) Major Alterations that result in a pronounced deterioration of the existing landscape resource. Valued characteristic features would be wholly lost.
- 6.10 Having applied the methodology, and reached a professional judgment on an individual impact, it is helpful to stand back and compare that judgment with the language in Table 1.7. Is the impact "pronounced"?; would valued features be wholly lost? If the answer is "no" then the sense-check suggests that a professional judgment of "major" should be revisited.
- 6.11 The areas of disagreement with the appellant are identified at paragraph 2.5 in the LVSoCG and in Table 1.
 - a) There is disagreement as to the degree of physical benefit to trees and hedgerows resource caused by additional landscape mitigation planting. The dispute centres on whether by Y 15 that change should be regarded as "limited", a small magnitude of change, or whether it is "partial", a medium magnitude of change. The Council consider it to be medium.
 - b) The dispute on the impact on the open fields/arable land use resource turns on whether the effect is a partial deterioration, moderate, or pronounced, major. The Council submit it is major.
- 6.12 It is agreed that there would be no significant physical impacts to the landscape receptors 'Public footpaths and public access' and 'Water courses and water bodies'.
- 6.13 There is disagreement as to the degree of impact to the character of the Site and its immediate vicinity in the local landscape. At the site level there are differences as to:
 - a) Susceptibility: The appellant contends for "low" (site able to accommodate the development with little or no consequence to the site's overall

- integrity); The Council contends for "high" (undue consequences on the site's integrity);
- b) Y1 magnitude of change: appellant medium (partial); Council large (pronounced);
- c) Y15 magnitude of change: appellant small (limited); Council large (pronounced).

Widening the area to include the immediate vicinity of the site, which includes part of the GUC CA, and is accepted be about 800m, the disagreement centres on:

- d) Y1 magnitude: appellant small; Council medium/large.
- e) Y15 magnitude: appellant very small; Council medium / large.

Visual Amenity

- 6.14 The LVIA presents two sets/types of photographs. Site Appraisal Photographs (SAP) taken from within the site and Site Context Photographs (SCP) taken from outside it. SCP, including those added during the appeal process³², form the representative views agreed to be appropriate for the Inspector's assessment in this case (LVSoCG paragraph 1.21). This is no substitute for a comprehensive site and area visit and an agreed Site Visit Route Plan was produced (LVSoCG Appx 1) to which Cllr Cooper added some points to visit having consulted interested local residents.
- 6.15 The Zone of Theoretical Visibility (ZTV) is agreed in the SoCG as being a fair representation of the extent of landscape in which views of the proposals may occur. The LVSoCG also sets out the locations where it is agreed that receptors will not experience significant effects.
- 6.16 The language used in the assessment of visual effects is also set out in the tables of the LVIA methodology. In table 1.8 the potential overall effects are described on a 'sliding scale' thus (with Council emphasis added):
 - a) Negligible Alterations that typically result in a <u>barely perceptible</u> <u>deterioration</u> in the existing view.
 - b) Minor Alterations that typically result in a <u>limited deterioration</u> in the existing view.
 - c) Moderate Alterations that typically result in a <u>noticeable deterioration</u> in the existing view.
 - d) Major Alterations that typically result in a <u>pronounced deterioration</u> in the existing view.

³² CD5.18 are the reference photographs.

- 6.17 The areas of disagreement are again best understood by reference to LVSoCG paragraph 2.5 and Table 2.
- 6.18 The first two rows in Table 2 concern receptors living, traveling on or walking beside approximately 500m of the GUC³³. The GUC is not simply important as a designated heritage asset. The Local Plan makes clear, as have very many local people, that it is an important cultural, recreational and wildlife asset. It is also part of a network of multi-functional green space giving rise to quality of life benefits. It is a "tranquil haven from which to enjoy unspoilt countryside", as well as being "an important landscape feature" in its own right and the quality of the surrounding landscape is "vitally important"³⁴. These descriptors do not simply apply to a consideration of mooring policy as was suggested by the appellant ³⁵, they are careful and considered statements in the Local Plan's section on protecting and enhancing the canal network.
- 6.19 Both landscape witnesses agree that the effects in Y1 will be significant. However, the appellant contends that, as a result of mitigation planting, the effect in Y15 will not be. The Council disagrees. The Inspector will be well placed to judge having seen the section of the canal on an embankment that would be difficult to plant, and the area proposed for 'scrub' landscape planting some 6m below the canal and having read the proposed management regime for the scrub³⁶.
- 6.20 The Council notes a tendency by the appellant during the Inquiry to rely on changes to the landscape strategy that might be undertaken when the conditions come to be discharged. This does not display confidence in the strategy submitted with the appeal, which has been revised from that submitted with the application.
- 6.21 Having regard to Table 1.5 in the LVIA methodology the Council consider it is difficult to understand why the appellant's witness should regard those travelling on PRoW RL/001 (Northampton Round) between Gayton and Anchor Farm³⁷, as having anything other than a "high" sensitivity. Walkers on this local circular route plainly fall full-square within the category of people enjoying outdoor recreation where their attention is likely to be focussed on the landscape. The Council also contends for a greater magnitude of change in the view than the appellant's "barely perceptible". The Inspector will doubtless have seen for himself.
- 6.22 For those travelling on the PRoW, when passing through the Site and its immediate vicinity, as represented by SCP01, SCP02, and SCP06, the appellant again down-grades their sensitivity. Inexplicably, the Council say, they also reduce the magnitude of change likely to be experienced so that the overall effect is "moderate" adverse and not "major", that is to say, merely a "noticeable deterioration" and not one which is "pronounced". This assessment, in particular, illustrates a trait of the appellant to downplay impact judgments such

³³ SCP10

³⁴ CD4.1 South Northamptonshire Local Plan paras 11.41, 12.21-4

³⁵ Mr Pleasant in Re-examination

³⁶ CD5.11

³⁷ SCP14

- that their planning witness, naturally enough, gives less weight to in his planning judgments.
- 6.23 The appellant appears to do the same thing in their assessment of the impacts on residential receptors on Blisworth Road and Milton Road. Only the residents at Sandlanding Wharf are ascribed a significant impact (moderate adverse). The inspector will have seen all these receptors.
- 6.24 While views by vehicle-borne users of local roads such as Milton Road and Wrights Lane may not experience significant effects, we say that the Council's assessment that pedestrians walking local roads will appreciate a significant impact should be accepted, although again, this is probably best appreciated on site. The same applies to those walking north on footpath RL/003 (SCP28 and 8).
- 6.25 Overall, the Council submits there will be many significant visual and landscape impacts to weigh in the planning balance.

Main Issue 2 - planning policy and the planning balance.

- 6.26 The adopted development plan consists of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Local Plan (Part 1) (2014) (LPP1) and the South Northamptonshire Local Plan (Part 2) (2020) (LPP2). There is no relevant Neighbourhood Plan for the site.
- 6.27 The main SoCG confirms the development plan policies considered to be offended against:
 - a. The LPP1.
 - (1) Part (i) only of Policy S10 which provides that "Development will. . i) <u>protect, conserve and enhance the natural</u> and built <u>environment</u> and heritage assets and their settings."
 - Policy S11. "Proposals should be <u>sensitively located</u> and designed to <u>minimise</u> <u>potential adverse impacts</u> on people, the natural environment, biodiversity, historic assets and should mitigate pollution. In addition, the location of wind energy proposals should have no significant adverse impact on amenity, landscape character and access and provide for the removal of the facilities and reinstatement at the end of operations."
 - a. The LPP2.
 - (1) Parts 1b and 1d only of Policy SS2: "Planning permission will be granted where the proposed development:
 - (b) uses a design-led approach to <u>demonstrate compatibility and</u> <u>integration with its surroundings and the distinctive local character of the</u>

<u>area</u> in terms of type, scale, massing, siting, form, design, materials and detail; and

- (d) incorporates suitable landscape treatment as an integral part of the planning of the development"; and
- (2) Part 1b only of Policy EMP6: "Development that relates to the diversification of an existing farm, agricultural estate, or other land-based rural business will be acceptable in principle provided that:
 - (b) The character, scale and type of proposal is <u>compatible with its</u> <u>location and landscape setting</u>.
- 6.28 There was disagreement over the meaning of Policy S11. The appellant considers Policy S11 only requires the adverse impacts of any proposed renewable energy development to be minimised. The Council disagrees with that interpretation of policy. The requirement to "minimise impacts" in this context requires a consideration of whether in principle a scheme is acceptable at all, and whether any scheme is too big for the location chosen. Not all sizes of scheme are going to be acceptable in all locations. But perhaps the disagreement is not as important as it might be given that both expert witnesses agreed that all four policy tests substantially require the decision taker to take into account a proposal's size/scale, location and impact and assess compatibility with the landscape's character and local amenity.
- 6.29 The relevance and requirements of national planning and energy policy have not featured prominently during the Inquiry. That is because they are essentially agreed. In the very recent appeal decision in Telford, Shropshire³⁸, both the Inspector and the Secretary of State made the position very clear.
- 6.30 In that context, the agreed benefits of the proposed development are set in the main SoCG:
 - a) The development would significantly contribute towards meeting national renewable energy targets and reducing carbon emissions. It would provide up to 49.72MW of electricity, which is equivalent to approximately the annual needs of in excess of 13,000 houses and can result in a carbon saving of approximately 11,750 tonnes per annum. Energy production is plainly a benefit that attracts significant weight³⁹.
 - b) The development would support direct and indirect jobs during the construction phase (and a smaller number of jobs when the solar farm is operational). The Council gives this benefit limited weight⁴⁰. Any jobs created in construction would have to be balanced by the loss of tenant farming jobs during the 40-year operational phase.
 - c) In terms of Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG), it is agreed that based on the Defra Biodiversity Metric 3.0, the development would enable a net gain of 195% and this is a significant benefit from an ecological perspective which goes significantly above and beyond policy and legislative requirements. The Council accepts this should attract significant weight.

³⁸ CD6.0

³⁹ As in the Shropshire Appeal

⁴⁰ As in the Shropshire Appeal

- 6.31 Of the other benefits claimed, the Council does not accept that any further weight should be given to:
 - a) The "investment" by the applicant. That is the role of all applicants; the benefits are those realised by the investment; any other approach would simply be 'double counting'.
 - b) The "suitability" of the site chosen. Again, this is a matter that is the product of the planning balance outcome. Even though the officer report to committee identified such a benefit, it was wrong to do so.
- 6.32 The agreed matters that weigh against the development are set out in the main SoCG:
 - a) Harm to the landscape and character of the area. Plainly given that the parties are at odds over the impact, the weight is not agreed either. However, the Council submits that the appellant has seriously underestimated the scale of the change that will be brought about in the area, particularly close to the village of Gayton. The Inspector has heard from local people how that change will affect them on a daily basis. Similarly, the appellant stresses the temporary nature of the permission, but 40 years is a generational change, perhaps even longer than that. Local people feel that they are being asked to shoulder too great a burden on behalf of the national need for clean energy.
 - b) There will be a loss of around 10.46Ha of Grade 3 agricultural land⁴¹. Draft EN3 advises 'avoid where possible'. This is a matter to which the appellant gives very limited weight and the Council, limited weight. Some 16% of the appeal site is BMV. The appellant has stressed that the site would be "sheep ready" so that an agricultural function would remain. However, no real examples of practice elsewhere were given, and the evidence from local farmers is that stocking levels are very much reduced. It sounds to the Council like a management mechanism rather than a serious agricultural enterprise.
- 6.33 To these may be added matters on which there is disagreement. The first is harm to the GUC CA and Grade II listed bridge over the canal on Milton Road.
 - a) The appellant's heritage assessment concluded that the northern parcel is "not considered an aspect of the setting of the conservation area that contributes to its significance." Unsurprisingly, faced with that advice, the appellant gives the alleged harm no weight at all.
 - b) The Officer Report⁴² identifies some harm to the setting of the GUC CA. The area appraisal and management plan⁴³ recognises how important the landscape setting is to the heritage significance of the area⁴⁴.
 - c) The Council is correct to give this heritage harm limited weight in the overall planning balance even though it was considered to be outweighed by the public benefits of electricity generation in the overall Framework balance.

⁴¹ CD1.2

⁴² CD3.1 p6 and p18, para 8.58-59

⁴³ CD4.18

⁴⁴ CD 3.1 para 6.1 and 8.3

- 6.34 The Council has not identified any harm to the Gayton CA but submit that the development will diminish the overall tranquillity of the area and this too is a factor on the 'negative' side of the overall planning balance in addition to the visual harm to amenity. While there is no highway objection from the local highway authority, the construction traffic on narrow country local roads with the potential at least for temporary conflicts and 'reversing up', will make the area a much less tranquil place to live in. The appellant proposes construction traffic on a Saturday; although this was debated in the condition session.
- 6.35 In the overall planning balance, the Council recognises, like the Inspector did in the Shropshire case, that there are conflicting demands on the countryside resource, and that the demands on the countryside to help meet the need for renewable and clean energy generation are increasing. However, the Council submits that in this particular corner of the countryside, the demand being made by the appellant is excessive and that the appeal should be dismissed.

The Case for other persons appearing at the Inquiry.

7. A number of interested parties, either individuals or those representing groups or organisations made oral representations to the Inquiry. Their complete statements, where submitted, are included under ID3 to 8 but the material points are set out here, albeit where necessary avoiding repetition:

Statement by Mr Knibbs, Local Resident - Objecting (ID3)

- 7.1 Mr Knibbs set out this is not an objection to the rights or wrongs of solar energy, and he accepts that there are compelling arguments as to why renewable energy sources are vital to the country's long term energy requirements. His objection is based on the geographical location of this proposal and the irrevocable and protracted harm that it will create in Gayton and the wider West Northants area.
- 7.2 There is currently 170 acres of productive farmland, delivering over a 13% higher yield than the national average, which will be lost to food production for years to come. The proposed site was only identified based on revenue generation for the landowner, this is not a reason to refuse but a reason to question the appropriateness of the selection and consider if taking this land out of production is sensible. Defra has recently graded the land as Grade 2 and 3, and it is odd that the application seems to downgrade this.
- 7.3 The Gayton Parish Council submission details eleven issues and provides an excellent summary of why the development in this location is flawed and contravenes so many Council policies. Even now the appellant is changing the application and has, for the first time, confirmed the position on the proposed installation of battery storage⁴⁵.
- 7.4 This is a huge application that will impact forever on the local landscape and the rolling countryside that locals and visitors use. It would not only be visible from the village but also from across the Nene valley and the Grand Union Canal.
- 7.5 Thousands of visitors use the canal and come to the local marinas and, for over a kilometre, the first thing they will experience is moving slowly past acres of solar panels. Solar farms are needed, but in the right place. There are thousands of acres of roofs across Northamptonshire with not a single panel on them. While it is accepted that this would require government direction, are we prepared to irrevocably change the open countryside?
- 7.6 There has been no dialogue with the village by the applicant, no proper consultation, just a questionnaire, a leaflet extolling solar power and recently a letter dealing with the changes made in the appeal. The application is flawed, with ambiguity, vagaries and a lack of detail. For example, no mention is made over how the two sites will connect across the GUC, the A43 and M1 to get to the nearest grid connection. Must we assume later applications for overhead power lines and more negative impacts on the countryside?
- 7.7 The Transport Statement significantly underestimates the transport movements and the impact on the village. The applicant states eight commercial vehicles per day, but this is misleading as it relates only to the panels and not access by

⁴⁵ Note – the appellant has clearly stated that battery storage is not part of this application.

- construction workers, management teams, heavy plant, waste removal or deliveries of ancillary equipment.
- 7.8 This is believed to be a gross underestimation and rather than 2,880 movements a more realistic figure would be 7,500 HGV movements. This would be on single track roads passing through the heart of the village.
- 7.9 The breaches of planning policy, impact on the landscape, loss of productive land, negative impact on the canal, tourism and the loss of open field wildlife habitat and ecology are all reasons to refuse this application. A scheme of this scale and nature will change the area forever and set a precedent for further open field development.

Statement by Councillor Glanville - Gayton Parish - Objecting (ID4).

- 7.10 These concerns are centred on the visual impact of the development and the appellant's inadequate proposals to mitigate the visual intrusion.
- 7.11 Hedgerow infilling. A central plank of the proposal is to reduce visual impact through infilling and tree planting. We believe this will have no perceptible effect during the lifetime of the development. The existing hedgerow must be at least 40 years old and does not exclude views into the northern site from the GUC or the towpath.
- 7.12 The appellant claims a BNG of 195% but this only through the arable crop cultivation that would be sown with grassland meadow seed mix. The scale of gain is simply due to the vast area to be planted. The Ecological Study did not mention new gain from hedgerows, which appears to be a mere 2.7% over 5 years. This is insufficient time to gain any screening, and the Metric calculations suggest that any tree benefit would take 30 years to achieve the intended result. The appellant's case for mitigation relies on this.
- 7.13 A further significant concern is in relation to batteries, but it is accepted that these may not be in the scheme now.
- 7.14 In relation to the canal and towpath, as well as being a CA, these are a valuable recreational resource which make an important contribution to the leisure, tourism and employment economies of the area, as well as the health and well-being of residents and tourists alike. The strip of land alongside the GUC is within the solar site and is a green infrastructure corridor, but this seems to have been given little credit in the appellant's design⁴⁶.
- 7.15 The GUC Character Appraisal and Management Plan⁴⁷ states the need to 1)
 Protect the surrounding countryside from inappropriate development affecting
 the setting of the canal; 2) Encourage appropriate new tree planting and manage
 existing trees and hedgerows and; Action 1: The landscape setting to the canal

⁴⁶ CD1.12 Site Context Plan

⁴⁷ CD4.18

- must be protected and enhanced. It is considered that point 2) has been selectively quoted, and points 1) and 3) have been completely ignored.
- 7.16 The Plan seeks to protect the important views into and out of the CA. With the proposed development directly adjacent, how can this be described as 'protecting'?

Statement by Councillor Clarke - Gayton Parish - Objecting (ID5).

- 7.17 There was a decision to unanimously refuse this application by the Council owing to the location and size of the site. This appeal is not considering the same application, which has many changes and some misleading claims and errors.
- 7.18 There is a comprehensive response from Gayton PC, but this response deals with two aspects.
- 7.19 Firstly, the negative impact on the GUC CA, which the site borders for almost 1 km. This former method of transportation is now very much considered to be for leisure and wellbeing, and is of national and international interest to thousands of people. There is a Grade II listed 'turnaround' bridge that directly overlooks a significant section of the industrial solar site.
- 7.20 The Council recognises the recreational potential of the GUC, and I refer to Policy RC7 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan, which identifies the potential offered by the GUC and other canals as well as the Rivers Nene, Tove, Cherwell and Great Ouse, and seeks opportunities to increase the recreational use of these resources and safeguard the quality of these special environments.
- 7.21 Secondly, as advised by the local feed mill, this site of 70Ha produces enough corn to make over 1 million loaves of bread, that could feed 2 million people for a week. 44,000Ha are reported to have already been given over to solar and lost from food production. As a country, we are only 68% self-sufficient and rely on imports which come with their own energy usage.
- 7.22 Fertile land is a diminishing asset and Defra rate this as Grade 2 and 3, producing 9.2 tonnes per HA compared to the national average of 8.5 tonnes. Although sheep grazing is proposed, typical densities of 15 to 20 per acre would likely be 1 sheep per acre under the proposal.
- 7.23 Although landscape details have been adjusted, these would not mature to a degree to camouflage the panels over a 20-40 year timeframe, and the point of decommissioning is not covered. While parishioners are not against alternative forms of energy production, it is vital, at the same time, to preserve good, fertile agricultural land for food production, and protect the landscape, particularly where it is so important.

Statement by Mrs and Mr Taylor - Local Residents - Objecting (ID6).

7.24 While recognising the need for more green energy projects, it is believed that this project would be in the wrong place. It is well known that the roads to Gayton are a narrow, mostly passing over old, weak, weight-restricted canal bridges and in a poor state of repair.

⁴⁸ Referred to as Turnover in the GUC CA Plan and throughout this Report

- 7.25 The only reasonable vehicular access would be up the Bugbrooke Road and hence past the school, a road already made difficult by parking and a chicane⁴⁹. HGVs regularly passing would cause chaos and considerable danger, with frustrated drivers competing with parents and children trying to access the school. The primary school has been open for over 100 years and there have been accidents when people cross the road, Students regularly walk from the school to the church.
- 7.26 The major disruption will be to traffic flows around the village, as well as noise and pollution, and all the HGVs are likely to damage roads. In routing this all through Gayton, it will have a very serious impact on the quality of life for the village as a whole.
- 7.27 Visually it will be impossible to hide the ugly installations leading up to the village along Milton Road and being in immediate proximity to our ancient, rural village; it will seriously detract from its desirability. It would be wholly incongruous with the surroundings and local CAs.
- 7.28 It is still not clear how it is intended to connect to the Grid across the canal or railway line, and national media suggest that there is currently over £2 Billion worth of green projects still waiting for access to the Grid, with waits of up to 10 years being reported. What guarantees are there that even were it to proceed that it would not be sitting there redundant and unused for years?

Mr Price-Local Resident - Objecting.

7.29 Made a short statement highlighting that he had not heard an answer to the issue of connection to the main Grid or about traffic movements.

Mrs Auld - Local Resident - Objecting.

- 7.30 The primary concern is traffic with issues over the use of rural, damaged roads with many potholes, the sharp right hand turn at the Church, including necessary reversing manoeuvres, and the use of the two bridges with weight limits. The roads are just not suitable and will lead to stuck lorries and much inconvenience.
- 7.31 Furthermore, the fragility of food supply must be secured, and this is fertile farming land. With land being lost to housing, freight links and more, rural areas will soon no longer exist. Alternatives must be thought of instead of just being put on the fringes of rural villages, and the appellant has not taken into account the views of villagers. It is all about money and there is nothing for local residents who get the disruption but no benefits.
- 7.32 With other issues of noise, ecology, light pollution and long-term recycling of the panels, it is inappropriate in this rural and tranquil location.

Mr Ayres - Local Resident - Objecting.

7.33 A local resident for 23 years. The size and location are inappropriate taking out of use perfectly usable agricultural land. The war in Ukraine drives up the cost of

⁴⁹ Note – the appellant has presented a route that does not pass the school

- food and this project should just not be contemplated; brownfields and large warehouses should be used instead.
- 7.34 The road infrastructure is not good enough. HGVs will not be able to turn by the Church, and in any case, how will HGVs be required to stick to that route? This area has suffered with the stress of HS2 and now this, which adds considerably to the pressures on residents.
- 7.35 There is no plan for removal of the panels, and probably no intention to do so, leaving a wasteland.

Statement by Councillor Cooper – District Councillor – Objecting (ID7)

- 7.36 Reported to be speaking on behalf of 66 residents of Gayton who have objected to this scheme. In addition to the objections of the Council and the Parish Council, there were objections from both Rothersthorpe and Blisworth Parish Councils. There has been a tremendous level of support from local residents opposing this appeal, and while it is understood that there is a need to increase energy output and that green energy is good, the 'environment' is not simply energy related. It encompasses the visual, the quality of life, the impact on the surrounding area, the entire carbon footprint of a project, including the manufacture, installation and final decommissioning of the products, not purely the output during its working life.
- 7.37 The world's call out for climate change is also about protecting the Earth's nature and food supplies, not ripping it up for generations to come. This proposal is a highly invasive solar industrial site; it cannot possibly be described as a farm, and 40 years is not a temporary scheme.
- 7.38 Nature plays a huge part in our physical and mental well-being. People benefit from Green Prescribing. This site is a vital part of open, green and natural space for the local communities of Gayton and far beyond, who are incredibly fortunate to have it, but it has never been more important to preserve it. The prospect of walking alongside acres of solar panels in an area used and appreciated by so many people, and the impact this will have on people enjoying the GUC, is unthinkable. Solar farms are essential, but they must be in the right place and there is clear and conclusive evidence that this is not the right place.
- 7.39 Agricultural Land: Gayton is a true farming community, and a solar farm would undermine the local Tenant Farm business and employment. It would extinguish agricultural land much needed by our country to grow crops. Food security is as important as electricity generation and the bountiful harvest from 170 acres should not be sacrificed.
- 7.40 The appellant claims this will power 13,250 homes, assuming three people per house, this is less than 18% of the population of Northampton. This is not an efficient use of a large area of valuable agricultural land, it cannot be justified covering so much land for so little energy. Solar farms have a limited lifespan and ruin the ground beneath them.
- 7.41 Size and Scale: 98 football pitches of highly visible rural landscape, dwarfing the size of the inhabited area of the village and running alongside the gardens of many homes and impossible to screen from view. This will change the character of the village forever.

- 7.42 The Northamptonshire M1 motorway corridor is lined by warehouses, most of which are not forced to have solar energy as the power source; this should be made compulsory and the land alongside used for solar so as not to affect the rural landscape. There are large estates around Northampton with roof space where it would make perfect sense to put solar panels.
- 7.43 Site Construction: Gayton is one of the most inaccessible villages in the country. There are weak bridges, narrow village roads, tight 90-degree bends between a Grade II listed church and a Grade I listed manor. What damage would be caused?
- 7.44 There would be noise and pollution and risk to pedestrians as most routes do not have pavements. HGVs would be a huge safety hazard; residents feel life would be unbearable.
- 7.45 Gayton is a peaceful, historic village in the English countryside, its history can be traced back to 1086 and it should be treasured and protected. It has a 'slow-paced' feel, you can hear birds sing and the Church clock chime, the roads are country lanes. It sits on a hill with panoramic views, and people come from miles around to appreciate these historic views. The area is used extensively for horse riding, with many stable yards in and around the village. Positioned immediately behind housing, the site is highly visible.
- 7.46 Grand Union Canal: While the appellant states there are no important assets to be harmed, this is incorrect. The GUC within its CA is a most significant asset. The proposed development would be immediately adjacent to the CA, which runs the length of the canal.
- 7.47 This beautiful and quiet landscape attracts tourists and walkers. The marinas offer boat hire to explore the canal and there is a peaceful campsite for holiday makers to stay and enjoy the views. Many boats, for some people their homes, moor along the canal, and tourism, which supports many local businesses, will decrease.
- 7.48 Wildlife and Ecology: There would be a loss of open field habitat, flora and fauna and other ecology impacts. The land is valuable for wildlife. Residents have seen deer, badgers and foxes in the fields and several species of birds. The development will disrupt their habitat forever.
- 7.49 Health and wellbeing: a solar farm would have a significant negative impact on the quality of life and wellbeing of Gayton residents due to the loss of unspoilt scenic countryside. A resident wrote to highlight concerns over disruption from HGVs and impact on their livestock during construction, as well as on their horses, which they ride locally on the roads. There is currently a limited number of HGVs using these roads.
- 7.50 We ask that the appeal is dismissed.

Duncan Wakelin and Clive Wakelin - Tenant Farmer - Objecting

- 7.51 Originally submitted as a written response presented by Councillor Cooper, the tenant farmers statement was as follows.
- 7.52 As a tenant farmer, he objects, from a selfish point of view, as the fields are good and there is plenty of lower value land available. There is a choice between food and energy, energy can be produced in many ways, but food can only come

- from the land. Such land is not likely to come back to production because noone will pay to remove the panels. Imported food will always be a risk.
- 7.53 At the planning hearing there were questions about connection across the canal, railway and motorway, there is concern that later applications to achieve this will be forced on the local authority. Councillors voted 12 to 0 that it should not be allowed, that result should stand.
- 7.54 Having farmed and lived on the land, he wanted to express anxiety over the proposal. It is wrong that these solar farms are inflicted onto local communities and spoil villages and good farmland. What are the government's priorities, food or energy; there is a right place for all these things. Northampton is a town full of warehouses, why aren't there solar panels on those?
- 7.55 It is hard to move around the narrow roads around the village with tractors and large machinery, the local bridges have been damaged in the past by large vehicles that cannot manoeuvre over them, and there are then weeks of waiting for them to be rebuilt. There will be an increase in lorries and other machinery, and this will make it impossible to move on the roads at times. The government should do the right thing and have this solar farm built in a more sensible place.

Statement by Dr Buus – Local Resident – Supporting (ID8)

- 7.56 The statement raised some issues with the way the original application was handled by the Council, submitted as a separate written comment. Presented to the Inquiry was the following submission.
- 7.57 There is a clear and urgent need for low CO₂ impact electricity generation to reduce the use of fossil fuels, meet the need for electric vehicles, heat pumps and hydrogen generation and reduce our present high reliance on energy imports. Currently 38% of the energy used in the UK is imported and of that produced here, about 40% is gas. In contrast, we are importing about 32% of our food, based on consumption figures from opponents of this scheme, which could be significantly reduced by a modest change in eating habits.
- 7.58 There are few existing low CO₂ technologies for electricity generation. Biofuels are renewable but not a low CO₂ source, and will require considerable land areas compared to solar. Nuclear power is low CO₂ but planning and construction times are very long, and it is not a near-term option.
- 7.59 In the future, there may be new, low CO₂ technologies, but these are likely to take decades to develop to a point where they can make a significant contribution. This only leaves solar and wind as sustainable options for electricity generation.
- 7.60 With a relatively low capacity figure, solar should not be used for more than around 15-20% of the total energy consumption. Even at that level the land required would correspond to less than 1% of the present total area of agricultural land. Solar panels on buildings, houses and warehouses, can make a useful contribution but are not in themselves sufficient. Furthermore, solar power is far simpler and cheaper to decommission than both nuclear and wind.
- 7.61 Having set out the case for a significant expansion of ground based solar power it would be disingenuous not to accept that it might be visible from the roads leading to Gayton. The limited visual impact of the proposed development is a

small price to pay for reduce CO₂ emissions, increased electricity generation and less reliance on energy imports, consequently the appeal is supported.

Written Submissions

- 8.1 At the application stage the Council reported 44 representations against the proposal and one in support. In response to notification of the appeal, there were 5 individual letters of representation, and concerns passed on by the local MP, Mr Heaton-Harris. The MP supported the position of a constituent that highlighted the fact that 85% of the village had objected, along with the Parish Councils and that the Highway authority has also objected, although it must be noted that this was not the position presented to the Inquiry, that their final comments raised no objection to the proposal.
- 8.2 Other comments were from the neighbouring Parish Council expressing concern over the routing of construction traffic, including through Blisworth Village, and also from the Canal and Rivers Trust (CRT), highlighting their concerns over the Turnover Bridge and the area between Bridges 46 and 47, and raising specific concerns regarding traffic over the bridges, and the proximity of the northern site to the GUC, which they identify as being prized for its tranquillity, recreational and amenity value.
- 8.3 Comments from CPRE highlighted concerns over the loss of agricultural land and noise, but also questioned the carbon footprint calculations and the absence of alternatives being considered.
- 8.4 For the most part, the matters raised are substantially the same as those raised above.

Conditions

- 9.1 Suggested conditions were discussed at the Inquiry based on a final agreed draft between the main parties⁵⁰. The focus of the discussions was to ensure that all matters of control and mitigation were properly addressed, and all conditions were necessary, relevant to planning and to the development, enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects.
- 9.2 Were the Secretary of State to consider that this proposal should be allowed, and permission granted, I have considered in my assessment below possible conditions that I recommend should be applied. These can be found in Appendix 4.

⁵⁰ ID11

Inspector's Conclusions

10.1 Taking account of the evidence in this case, including the submissions and representations on which I have reported above, I have reached the following conclusions. References in square brackets [] are to earlier paragraphs in this report.

Introduction

- 10.2 Following a full assessment of the submissions from both the main parties and others interested in the appeal, I now set out the main issues as:
 - the effect of the proposal on the landscape character and appearance of the area;
 - the effect on heritage assets;
 - the effect on best and most versatile agricultural land; and
 - whether the proposal would conflict with the development plan and if so whether there are any material considerations that would outweigh that conflict; the planning balance.

Landscape Character and Appearance

- 10.3 The appellant argues that overall, there would be only moderate adverse effects which would be limited to the appeal site and its immediate vicinity, with the beneficial effects of planting and mitigation leading to a more robust landscape framework. Nonetheless, the introduction of panels and other infrastructure, including transformers, inverters and fencing, will inevitably introduce a fundamental change to agricultural land. Considering the scale of this proposal, there would also, inevitably, be a degree of change to the landscape and to peoples' experience of the area. [5.28]
- 10.4 This is acknowledged in national and local policy approaches, which are generally supportive of such schemes subject to appropriate design choices in terms of both location and mitigation. This is encapsulated in Policy S11 of the LPP1, which seeks that schemes be sensitively located and designed to minimise harm, and in the Framework, which recognises the need to plan positively for such schemes but to satisfactorily address adverse impacts. [5.34, 5.56]
- 10.5 The issue is not therefore whether there would be a material change and resultant adverse impacts, but the extent of those, the approach taken to minimising any effects and then the balance to be taken against any benefits that would arise.
- 10.6 The appellant submitted an LVIA and a proof of evidence from the consultancy who prepared that LVIA. During the application process, in response to Council concerns, they also commissioned a Landscape and Visual Advisory review⁵¹. The Council itself reviewed the LVIA during the application process⁵² and presented evidence at the Inquiry. No alternative LVIA was submitted and the SoCG on landscape confirmed, among other matters, that the two parcels of the

⁵¹ Southern Green - September 2022

⁵² CD 3.2 - Askew Wilson

- site do not lie within a designated or protected landscape and should not be considered as a valued landscape, in terms of paragraph 174 of the Framework. There was also agreement that the methodology used for the LVIA was generally in accordance with GLVIA3 and that the sites have a medium value in the wider landscape. [5.3, 5.4, 5.14, 6.2, 6.5, 6.7, 6.8]
- 10.7 Notwithstanding this, there are clear differences in the main party's assessment of landscape and visual effects, and I am aware of the significant concerns of some local residents and the Parish Councils, that the change from agriculture to panels could be so marked as to represent a wholesale degradation of the area, impacting on tourism as well as their own enjoyment and experience of the area.

The Value of the Existing Site

- 10.8 The proposed development is divided into two separate parcels, it is necessary to consider the value of each independently, albeit both lie within the National Character Area 89 Northamptonshire Vales. At a district level, the South Northamptonshire Landscape Character Assessment identifies the parcels as lying within the undulating hills and valleys landscape and specifically 13b, the Bugbrooke and Daventry Landscape Character Area (LCA). It is common ground between the main parties that the proposal would have no material effect at the national or district level. [5.9, 6.2]
- 10.9 Locally, the southern parcel is identified as being within the 13f Gayton local LCA and the northern parcel within 13e, the Rothersthorpe local LCA. Again, it is accepted by the main parties that there would be no significant impact on the landscape of these LCAs. [5.9, 6.2]
- 10.10 Having driven and walked extensively over the local area, I would agree that the character of these relatively large-scale areas would not experience material or significant change. Nonetheless, they do assist in understanding the value of the sites.
- 10.11 The southern parcel, notwithstanding its position relatively close to the village of Gayton and location to the rear of some residential gardens, is not a prominent site. Experienced in oblique views over the hedge from Milton Road, in some long views and from the rear gardens of a few properties on Milton Road or Blisworth Road, it is a large arable field with hedgerow or woodland boundaries, notably the tree belt to the east. There are no major detracting elements from a typical agricultural field set in a rural landscape, but its relative containment means it is not an important component in terms of the setting of the village.
- 10.12 The northern parcel is more extensive and set within a more complex landscape. It is a flatter landform located towards the valley floor, but with rising land to the east. While the northern parcel itself has an agricultural, rural character, it lies adjacent to a number of strongly defined transport routes, the GUC in particular, but also the main line railway, the A43 corridor to the east and a short distance to the north, the M1. Although the motorway is not directly experienced within the immediate local context, it is in the long views across the valley, and represents a strong division between the built up and industrialised

- edge of Northampton and the more rural area around Rothersthorpe. [2.1, 2.2, 5.12, 5.17, 5.24]
- 10.13 These features introduce activity, noise and man-made forms into this area. However, it is important to note that the industrialised heritage of the canal has given way to its present-day role as an important recreational resource, for which its predominantly rural setting and tranquillity are one of its attractions. However, although part the northern parcel shares a boundary with the hedgerow alongside a length of the towpath of the canal, I do not consider that it is as important to the character or the enjoyment and experience of those using the GUC as the canal route itself and views to the south. [6.18, 7.14, 8.2]
- 10.14 This is confirmed when reviewing the GUC CA Character Appraisal and Management Plan and designation maps⁵³. This, in considering landscape and views, agrees with my experience of walking the towpath here, that the canal, in maintaining its route along a contour, is embanked, with the proposed panels on this part of the site set notably lower along much of the stretch. Furthermore, the hedgerow to the northern bank, although somewhat patchy in places, nonetheless provides a visual barrier. While the maps note the important views to the south towards Gayton, the section here is otherwise relatively enclosed, with the typical experience for those using it being of the long linear views along the canal towards the bridges. [5.17, 5.18, 5.44, 5.46, 6.33, 7.15, 7.16]
- 10.15 To the eastern end of this parcel, where it is set back from the main canal section, but closer to the Northern Arm and marinas, the Plan identifies these areas as being compromised by road noise from the A43. I found that this is the experience across much of the site, although considerably less so to the western end. There are regular trains, which themselves introduced defined periods of activity and noise, and while the frequency of the trains passing was questioned, it is nonetheless a component of this landscape, and experienced from the northern parcel and the footpath network running through and alongside it. [5.14, 5.38, 6.18]
- 10.16 The footpaths which cross the site towards the western and eastern ends, LA/004 and RL/004, pass from the rural areas to the north and into the complex of the marinas and towpaths nearer to the site, and currently walkers experience a short stretch of typical agricultural field when traversing the site. To the east, the footpath emerges near to a large, fenced utility pumping station, which again introduces a detractor to the rural character here.
- 10.17 Overall, I find nothing to disagree with the main party's findings that the site is of medium value. [5.3, 5.12]

Effect of the Proposal on the Character and Appearance of the area and its Value

10.18 The points of difference between the main parties are essentially judgments of effect based on the susceptibility and sensitivity of the landscape, and the extent of visual harm from the introduction of panels in views from the footpaths, the canal and to a lesser extent, identified longer views from outside of the appeal site parcels. These are helpfully set out in Tables 1 and 2 accompanying the Landscape SoCG and accompanying text. [5.11, 5.12, 6.11, 6.13, 6.17, 3.18]

⁵³ CD4.18 and CD4,19

- 10.19 In terms of landscape effects, the appellant argues that the Council have unacceptably given a high value to the susceptibility of the site to change and its sensitivity, contrary to guidance. [5.12]
- 10.20 Susceptibility, the ability of a landscape to accommodate a proposed development must, in my view, be a function of both the existing landscape form, quality and features and the nature of the development. The appellant argues that the Council have considered this proposal as industrial development, and of a scale and effect akin to large-scale housing or other energy infrastructure. [5.16]
- 10.21 Having reviewed the relevant guidance⁵⁴ referred to, I am satisfied that while the proposal would introduce large area of panels and other distinctively manmade structures of a hard and unnatural regular form in close views, they are low-level, in this case to a maximum of under 3m, with limited noisy or distracting elements. From distance, the perception of their character will change for different viewers. To some this could be to something more positive, perhaps reminiscent of water, to others less so, with glint or glare elements and a continued unnatural shape and form.
- 10.22 Nonetheless, while of a large horizontal extent, a factor which can lead to an exaggerated perception of harm in some cases when viewed two-dimensionally on a plan or in an aerial view, understanding the impacts of such as scheme is essentially site-specific, dictated by the topography, existing character and relationships and level of containment, but also, as a matter of perception.
- 10.23 I appreciate many view large-scale solar developments as harmful in a rural setting, but others view them as a necessary and relatively benign alteration to our landscape. While there can be no question that, at this scale, there will be significant landscape and visual change associated with any solar farm, there are sites where, with suitable mitigation, they have been successfully integrated into rural landscapes. The appellant refers me to a number which have received support at local or national levels⁵⁵. Nonetheless, there are cases where harm to landscape, alone or cumulatively with other matters have led to refusal of schemes. Judgements depend on site specific circumstances.
- 10.24 I find these examples exemplify the need for careful appraisal of each scheme, and while material, are not determinative of the suitability of any particular proposal.
- 10.25 In this context and having set out the value of the appeal site above, I find both northern and southern parcels to be of medium susceptibility to change from a solar farm proposal. The southern parcel is well contained and in my view of only medium sensitivity, leading to a moderate adverse effect in early years and reducing with appropriate levels of set back and maturing of the mitigation planting.
- 10.26 Development of the northern parcel would introduce unnatural elements into a landscape with a number of existing man-made influences. However, it would be of larger scale and more readily perceived and experienced as an additional landscape element. Critically, the Council also argue that the northern parcel is an important component of the green infrastructure corridor, as defined in the

⁵⁴ CD4.11 and CD4.12

 $^{^{55}}$ CD6.0, CD6.1 and CD6.2

- LPP2, and encompassing the GUC; and in effect part of the corridor's setting. [6.18, 7.14]
- 10.27 I do not support the Council's consideration that it is part of the 'setting' of a green infrastructure corridor. Such corridors, by their nature provide relief from surrounding land use or provide publicly accessible routes through an area; rightly the Council did not promote any conflict with the relevant policy on this matter. Although I have found that the northern parcel is not a key component of the experience of the GUC, the bounded nature of the canal and occasional enclosure by development or historic industrial settings, is generally relieved by the open fields to either side when passing through more rural areas. While I deal in more detail with the heritage implications below, the change to a solar character rather than an agricultural one would materially affect the experience of the canal, albeit limited by the factors that reduce the importance of the northern parcel's relationship to the canal set out above. [5.51, 5.53]
- 10.28 The introduction of panels and other infrastructure on the northern parcel would be another element of a more industrial, man-made character than the wider rural context, and the existing fields are in and of themselves valuable as an open and rural element providing some contrast to detractors already within the landscape. For those experiencing the landscape from the road bridges, notably where the route to access the canal from the Gayton Junction parking crosses the Turnover bridge, those crossing the rail line further to the east, or even those crossing the site on the circular routes to Rothersthorpe or up to Gayton, it would be perceived as a significant and harmful addition to the landscape.
- 10.29 However, to my mind, this does not take the susceptibility of this landscape to the highest value, it remains medium because of the existing character and the nature of the scheme. The northern parcel itself is well contained in parts, and the alterations to the scheme to set back areas and remove the panels from the higher land to the east are positive in this regard. Nonetheless, notably in the early years and during seasons when the existing and proposed screening would be more limited, the experience of this landscape as a rural area with transport links would be harmed by the proposal.
- 10.30 The CRT highlighted the value of the tranquillity of the GUC for users and the Council argued at the Inquiry, that there would be an effect on the tranquillity around the northern parcel to the detriment of the character of the area. [6.18, 7.32, 8.2]
- 10.31 The appellant had commissioned a noise assessment, a noise rebuttal and a tranquillity technical note to inform their finding that there would be no effect on tranquillity, in part because of the existing noise climate, even at the western end of the parcel. [5.37, 5.38, 5.39]
- 10.32 I fully accept that there is a background presence of road noise across the northern parcel, albeit reducing to the west, and I noted even during my site visit the regular passing of trains on the railway next to the canal. However, there remains some sense of tranquilly here which, to my mind, is not just about noise. It is enhanced here by the nature of the GUC corridor itself, by the slow movement of the water and the quiet movements and activity of boats and people along it. While noise is a fundamental component when assessing tranquillity, there is a relative level of calm that also can contribute.
- 10.33 There is no reason why solar development should be significantly harmful to that experience, it lacks significant moving elements or activity, but it is not

correct to suggest that there is no noise associated with it. In this case, I only have the appellant's evidence on noise which concludes, in relation to tranquillity, that any noise associated with the proposal would not have any impact on the relative tranquillity of the waterways and PRoWs. I address the effects on residents below, but subject to the careful placement of transformers and inverters, I concur that the proposal would not be harmful to the tranquillity or the character of the area in that sense. [5.38]

- 10.34 The Council raised in closing statements the effect on tranquillity for residents of Gayton from construction traffic. I deal in detail with highway matters below, but do not consider that the low level of HGVs during the temporary construction period can be considered to represent material harm to the long-term tranquillity of the village, even were there to be occasional delays or disruption on the route. [6.34]
- 10.35 I note concerns that the presence of two separate parcels would lead to a cumulative level of harm extending over a much greater area, but I have found the character of these areas are different and they are mostly experienced independently. Despite some suggestions of significant levels of intervisibility, there are no well-used or designed views that would allow appreciation of both appeal parcels at once. [5.21, 7.4, 7.27, 7.41, 7.45]
- 10.36 Overall, I consider that the effects of the proposal on the landscape character would be moderate adverse reducing to minor adverse over time.
- 10.37 Turning to visual effects, a set of representative views were agreed between the main parties and, subject to some concession at the Inquiry, the points of disagreement are set out in the Landscape SoCG. [5.25, 6.14, 6.17]
- 10.38 I consider there to be three main groups of receptors in this area, the users of the canal, walkers on the PRoWs and residential properties near to the site. There was some discussion on the views from cars driving through the area or other road users. I accept that there would be intermittent oblique views from Wrights Lane, and shorter-range views from Milton Road, which, subject to mitigation, would show some extent of the northern parcel when crossing over the Turnover Bridge and heading north, or heading south and west on Milton Road from Sandlanding Wharf. However, I consider that vehicle occupants are not sensitive receptors in this context.
- 10.39 The view from Wrights Lane would be at distance and while parts of the northern parcel could be seen along with the hedgerow along Milton Road, I do not consider that the proposed panels on the southern parcel would be visible from here, which is also not a route on which I would anticipate any significant pedestrian use. [5.22, 5.23, 5.24, 6.24]
- 10.40 There is a point on Milton Road, SCP21, where road users, in very early years of the proposal may be able to see to the northern parcel and over the hedge into the southern parcel. In my view, this is not a route attractive to walkers and while it may be used by occasional horse riders, this is a narrow road from which hedgerow growth would increasingly limit sideways views into the southern parcel and the northern parcel would make up only a very small part of the view northward. [5.23, 7.27]
- 10.41 While there would be more open views of the northern parcel from the lower parts of Milton Road, these are transient routes with views lasting a relatively

- short period on fairly narrow lanes where attention is likely to be on the road. I do not dismiss these views, they contribute to an awareness of a solar farm within the landscape, but I view the impacts as being minor adverse.
- 10.42 For users of the canal, either moored or on slow-moving boats, or those walking the towpath or footpaths from the marinas or the car parks, there will be points where gaps in the northern hedgerow allows views of the proposed development. In addition, there would be raised views from the bridges providing more open views into the northern parcel. I am conscious that the revised proposal has promoted enhanced tree planting and scrub planting as well as strengthening of the northern hedgerow, a characteristic feature of the canal, with further scrub planting on the slopes behind it. While these would provide screening and reduce views, and for many utilising these routes, their attention is a generally linear one along the canal, these are receptors with high sensitivity, many using the area for its rural character, and even glimpsed views must be considered to be moderate adverse, major in some places, albeit this will reduce over time as the planting becomes more established. [5.18, 5.19, 6.18, 6.19, 7.4, 7.15, 7.19]
- 10.43 Despite the concerns of some parties, I can see no reason why properly managed planting should not be successfully established on the land between GUC and the proposed panels, even on the sloping part of the site. Such requirements can be addressed in conditions.
- 10.44 The footpath network here is well marked and likely to be popular, I note that the circular walk utilising RL/004 and LA/004 is reported to be a promoted route, and I was able to cover all of these stretches during my site visit. From areas north of the site, in which the majority of this route takes place, there would be little experience of the northern parcel and none appreciable of the southern. Approaching in a southward direction, some views, particularly in winter, would open up on close approach to the northern parcel, and quite clearly, crossing the site would introduce users to close range and relatively unfiltered views of panels, particularly in the early period of the proposal. [5.20, 6.21, 6.22]
- 10.45 For these crossings, where existing users experience seasonal changes and an open outlook, the panels would be a significant detractor leading to major adverse effects. However, these crossings are a relatively short part of the routes. The perception reduces relatively quickly at points beyond the crossings themselves, particularly to the north, and walkers heading south are exposed to routes on the road network, which generally do not have footways, notably Milton Road, and to significantly greater exposure to noise and activity associated with the pumping station, the marinas and increasingly the railway and the roads, amongst others.
- 10.46 I was referred to longer range views on walking routes, and in particular RL/003 which connects Gayton to the canal, and RL/001 heading northwest from Gayton. RL/003, passes over a pronounced ridge and consequently, despite a number of interested party statements made that the northern parcel would be visible from Gayton⁵⁶, views only open up some way along this route at SCP28, and intermittently from there down to the railway bridge. [5.25, 5.26, 5.27, 6.24]
- 10.47 Walkers would unquestionably notice the layout of panels on the northern parcel, an adverse element within a predominantly rural landscape, albeit this is

⁵⁶ It was accepted by the Council that there were no views from the Gayton CA to either part of the site.

- a broad panorama, from which the railway and associated fencing as well as distant views to the urban fringe of Northampton are also perceived. As a relatively small component of the view, I consider impacts would be minor adverse here.
- 10.48 The longer-range views from RL/003, SCP14, provide a similar panorama, and while parts of the northern parcel would be within the view, the effects on a route, within which only intermittent views can be taken within a wide field of view, would be minor adverse.
- 10.49 There are residential properties from which there may be some views of the proposal. Sandlanding Wharf is the nearest house to the northern parcel. This has a small upstairs window looking toward the west and the upper part of Field E in the northern parcel. Removal of the panels from this area under the latest amendments would reduce direct impacts, but some views are still likely, notwithstanding the planting and hedge management proposed. However, the predominant view for this property is eastward and over the canal. Overall, I consider this would be a moderate adverse effect, reducing to minor. [6.23]
- 10.50 There is also a row of houses along Milton Road, the nearest of which to the site may experience some views, and along Blisworth Road, where a number of houses back onto the southern parcel. These properties lie on the fringe of the village and generally have a relatively open outlook to front and rear, although garden boundaries would appear to be mature and substantial relative to the southern parcel. The proposed set back and planting on site would limit the lower-level views from these properties, nonetheless, there may be some views in which the fencing and some extent of panels might be seen. Consequently, I consider these represent moderate adverse views in the early years of the proposal, but the effect would reduce considerably with planting. [6.23]

Interested parties' concerns.

- 10.51 When considering the more significant concerns of the interested parties, I cannot agree that the proposal would lead to the dramatic impacts suggested for Gayton village or the tourism offer of the GUC. Canal users, were they to find opportunities to glance through the occasional gaps in the hedgerow, would, in early years of the scheme, be able to see the panels on the northern parcel. As the proposed planting to the hedge and scrub planting to the rear matures, even those views would be noticeably reduced. [5.8, 7.9, 7.14, 7.47]
- 10.52 I have dealt with the experience of those using the footpath network above, including concerns relating to horse riders and walkers using Milton Road who over time, in my view, would have reduced awareness of the panels on the southern parcel, subject to managed hedgerow growth and planting. I do not consider that the additional height proposed to the hedgerow here would have a material effect on the character of the area; strong hedgerows bound rural roads and are very characteristics of the area, and the approach to Gayton, and the prominence of the woodland element to the north of the village and later, the Church tower on that approach, would be unaffected. [7.27]
- 10.53 Furthermore, having walked that route, it is not one attractive to walkers, or likely to be taken by many in preference to the footpaths that cross the fields to the west, which themselves provide very little appreciation of the southern parcel development. I appreciate that horse riders may be more aware, but they would

- also have increasingly limited views with planting and set back here, and would have greater appreciation of views retained to the north and west. [67.45, 7.49]
- 10.54 I could find no views of either parcel from the marina area, and the impact on the initial stretches of the canal heading west have been addressed above. I do not accept that this would represent a substantial negative impact sufficient to materially affect use and enjoyment of the canal in this area.

Conclusion on Landscape and Visual Effects

- 10.55 Before concluding on this matter, it is necessary to consider the issue of the temporary status of the proposal. At a number of points in the submission of evidence on matters relating to landscape effects, as well as effects on agricultural land, reference was made to this being a temporary proposal and that the site would revert to its existing condition, or even an improved condition, at the end of that period.
- 10.56 However, 40 years is a considerable length of time during which peoples' experience of the development within the rural landscape or its role as part of the recreational resource would be altered. For some people, were the proposal to gain permission, it would establish a landscape that may be all they know and whose effects may progress through to later generations. The proposal may not be a permanent change but would reflect a very long-term change, and over such a period of time, there can be no guarantees on the future need for such energy sources or the pressures that might lead to re-powering or extending its life. Consequently, I would recommend that little weight is given to the aspect of the potential reversibility of the proposal in landscape or visual terms. [6.32, 7.37]
- 10.57 Taking all these matters into account, I consider that the proposal would have a material adverse effect on the visual and landscape character of the site and the contribution that the development parcels would make to the wider landscape. I have set out above that, in my view, and reflected in policy and guidance, all solar farms of this scale will cause some harm when developed within rural sites. Nonetheless, there are degrees of such harm and very different circumstances in which they are experienced.
- 10.58 The effect on landscape character is less for the southern parcel and more for the northern parcel, albeit this site in a more complex landscape with a number of transport routes crossing it. However, the rural component of this landscape would be eroded. For those using the area, notably walkers on the footpaths and users of the canal, there would be a changed and somewhat degraded view in some areas. There are a number of initial and amended proposals that have been considered to screen and mitigate this harm, and in some cases enhance the site, but overall, I consider this proposal would harm the character and appearance of the area. While to some receptors the visual harm would be major in the early years of the proposal, overall, I consider this would redice to moderate harm over time.
- 10.59 I note the Council argue that this has implications in terms of the specific compliance with policy and notably the issue of sensitive location set out in Policy S11. This policy seeks that development be '...sensitively located and designed to minimise potential adverse impacts...'. The appellant considers that the scheme has been sensitively located within the site, while the Council argue that this is a sensitive location where the principle of promoting such a large scheme

- should be central to the assessment of whether it is sensitively located. [5.50, 5.51, 5.55, 6.27, 6.28]
- 10.60 In my view, S11 must be read on its face, and any proposal must be able to show that it has been chosen with sensitivity to the location. For solar farms there is an unavoidable and very strong locational driver of being able to connect to the national grid in an area with capacity to accept the connection. I deal with the issue of grid connection below, but this is a fundamental driver for location, coupled with the need for a large area of land, which invariably drives such schemes into rural areas. This is acknowledged in local and national policies.
- 10.61 While there may be sites where the sensitivity precludes large scale solar, notably, but not exclusively, nationally designated or highly valued landscapes or even landscapes of great heritage value, these are not in play in this case, although there are sensitive elements here that may not be present in other locations.
- 10.62 This area is essentially rural, although crossed by transport routes which bring other components to the character of the area, it also has small historic settlements, such as Gayton, and attractive and valued features, such as the GUC. In my judgment, although it is clear that there have been design elements seeking to minimise adverse impacts, notably the set back of panels in more prominent areas and the introduction of large areas of scrub, hedgerow and tree planting, I have still found the proposal to be moderately harmful. In this context, there is a degree of conflict with Policy S11, but also with that part of Policy S10 that seeks to protect the natural environment and those parts of Policies SS2 and EMP6 in the LPP2, which seek development compatible with its surroundings.
- 10.63 Such policy conflict must be weighed against supporting policies and the benefits of the scheme in the planning balance.

Heritage Assets

- 10.64 While this was not a main issue in the Council's refusal, on full assessment of their case and those of the interest parties it is necessary to consider the effect of the proposed development on the character or appearance of the conservation areas and on the setting of nearby listed buildings. There are three principal heritage assets I consider to be relevant in this case: the GUC CA, the Gayton CA and the Grade II listed building, the Turnover Bridge, Bridge 47. The appellant provided heritage evidence as an appendix to their planning evidence, which concluded that there would be no harm to heritage assets. However, many interested parties raised concerns over heritage matters and the Council, who agreed there would be no harm to the Gayton CA, still found some harm to the GUC CA and the listed bridge, albeit accepting that public benefits would outweigh this. The CRT also raised specific concern over harm to the GUC and to the setting, but also the integrity of the listed bridges in the area. [5.5, 5.44, 5.45, 5.46, 6.18, 6.33, 7.15, 7.19, 7.26, 7.27, 7.38, 7.43, 7.46, 8.2]
- 10.65 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 s66(1) requires the Secretary of State have special regard to the desirability of preserving a listed building or its setting. Although the site does not lie within

- the CAs, nonetheless, the effect on the setting of these assets also needs to be assessed.
- 10.66 The GUC CA borders the northern parcel. The CA Management Plan describes the overall character as being defined by the gently curving canal, the modest grassy towpath and the surviving bridges, with its setting being of particular note as it passes through the river valleys. It acknowledges that, in places, the hedgerows completely contain views along it, which to an extent is the experience here when considering the outlook to the north and the appeal site. The significance of the GUC lies in its historic and architectural value, which to my mind includes the engineering of the contoured route of the canal.
- 10.67 I have found no particular relationship and no views between the marina area and the northern parcel, nor do I consider that it forms part of the setting here. However, an appreciation of the raised and embanked form is a component in understanding the historic and architectural significance of the canal, and the northern parcel has a part to play in that. In addition, views from raised areas, and the Turnover bridge provide exactly that, allowing an appreciation of not just the engineering, but also the rural setting through which parts of the canal run. The northern parcel is therefore an element of the setting of the GUC CA.
- 10.68 The effect of the site on the landscape or visual experience are not the same as its contribution to the heritage significance of the canal, nonetheless, I consider the introduction of solar panels would alter the relationship to the canal and appreciation of its embanked form within a rural landscape. Consequently, I consider there would be harm to the setting of the GUC.
- 10.69 The scale of this is limited to the short stretch in what is a very long linear CA. The harm to the CA as a whole, would therefore be limited and at the lower end of less than substantial harm, when considered on the context of the Framework.
- 10.70 Turning to Gayton CA, notwithstanding the Council position, there were a number of very concerned residents who felt that the historic value of the village would be harmed by the proposals. Gayton is a village which retains a compact form, with many high-quality vernacular buildings and some listed ones, and which retains its strong historic character. Its significance lies in its archaeological and historic context and the architecture, but also its rural setting. The occasional panoramic view out from the core of the village, in particular to the north is an important component. However, I have found little visual connection between the village and the appeal site parcels, although glimpsed views of the southern parcel on approach to the village may slightly alter perceptions of the rural setting in the early years of the proposal. I consider the character and appearance would be preserved.
- 10.71 A particular concern raised was the construction phase and the introduction of additional HGV movements through the village and past the Church, which is Grade II* listed, and Gayton Manor, which is Grade I listed. Notwithstanding the high value of these assets, they are already set within a road network through which traffic passes in the course of regular day to day activities. While I deal with the detail of traffic movements below, I do not consider the scale of the movements and the temporary period over which they would be experienced would be perceived as an impact sufficient to diminish the settings of these listed

- buildings or the character or appearance of the CA. Overall, I therefore find that the Gayton CA would be preserved. [6.34]
- 10.72 Turning then to the listed bridge. The Turnover bridge is identified in the GUC CA management plan, as a Grade II listed bridge providing an opportunity for horses to cross from one side of the canal to the other. It provides important context to the historic use of the canal and its significance is therefore both architectural and historic. As set out above, this bridge provides access from a nearby car park to the canal and towpath and a link on the Rothersthorpe circular walk. Its historic value and functional purpose is intrinsically linked to the canal, which is therefore the key component of its setting, although on crossing the bridge, parts of the northern parcel would be evident. [5.46, 6.3, 6.33, 7.19, 8.2]
- 10.73 I consider the northern parcel is part of the setting of the bridge. Although the proposed planting, which would increasingly screen those views which establish a relationship between the site and the bridge, there would be a low level of harm to that setting. I consider this to be at the lower end of less than substantial harm as set out in the Framework.

Conclusion on heritage assets

10.74 I have found there would be some harm at the lower end of less than substantial harm to the GUC CA and the listed Turnover bridge but no other heritage harm. The harm to heritage significance should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, which I address in the planning balance below.

Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land

- 10.75 The appellant argues that while there would be some loss of BMV, it should be accorded only very limited weight, while the Council considered it to be of limited weight. [5.8, 6.32]
- 10.76 However, the Parish Council and interested parties argued that the land has greater value and is more productive than suggested by the appellant. In this they argue that a Defra assessment suggested much greater levels of BMV on the site as well as pointing towards its productivity exceeding national averages. [7.2, 7.21, 7.22, 7.23, 7.33, 7.39, 8.3]
- 10.77 The appellant's finding that there is some 10.64Ha of Grade 3a land spread across the appeal site comes from a site-specific Agricultural Quality of Land Report, May 2021. It is unclear what evidence supports the suggested Defra findings, although I am aware that, as agreed by the Council and the appellant⁵⁷, this may be high level maps sourced as part of their assessment. I am also aware that Natural England produce strategic maps identifying likely BMV areas and agricultural land classification. I accept that these may have shown good or even very good land in the area, and the extract provided in the CPRE written representation is indicative of this. However, such strategic mapping is not sufficiently accurate for use in individual site assessments. [5.16, 5.32]
- 10.78 I have reviewed the Agricultural Quality of Land Report and prefer those findings that there is some 10.64Ha of Grade 3a land spread across both parcels.

⁵⁷ ID12

- I note that this is not contiguous and cannot practicably be farmed separately to the lower grade land.
- 10.79 While the use of higher quality agricultural land is discouraged, it is not precluded by national policy, and where such land is not within a discrete parcel that could be retained in agricultural use, then any harm must be considered in that context. [5.34, 6.32]
- 10.80 The proposal is for a temporary period of 40 years and while this remains a very long period, and no clear understanding can be made on the pressures on land at that point in the future, the agricultural land would not be permanently lost. The continuation of some agricultural use is also possible, albeit it must be accepted that this would not represent the productivity potential of the land under full stocking or cultivation levels.
- 10.81 Although it is often argued that this extended period would allow the land to recover from its more intensive agricultural use, and the soil condition and structure improve, this is challenged, notably by CPRE. In their written representations they refer to a Secretary of State decision in Wales⁵⁸. It is suggested that this finds solar farms to be harmful, causing soil compaction and disturbance and overall leading to permanent loss of BMV. I do not have access to the evidence presented, but note that, in that case, the majority of the site was found to be Grade 2 and Grade 3a land. Nor do I know the nature or agricultural activity associated with that land, the soil type or nature of use.
- 10.82 For the site before me, which has clearly been most recently in arable use, it will typically have been worked with machinery and will have had fertilizer and other inputs added to support and enhance production. Consequently, while I acknowledge that were the scheme to go ahead, there would be immediate loss of some BMV, the provision of panels over a large part, but not all of the site, is not generally a high impact construction operation and does not require significant disturbance or extensive foundations; panels are also readily removed, again without significant disturbance generally.
- 10.83 I therefore consider that the likely outcome would be soil improvement with the short and relatively light-touch construction required and the long period when the land would be left with limited or no artificial inputs. I can see no reason, were the panels to be removed in future, that the land and soil quality would not remain at BMV levels, or even experience some improvement.
- 10.84 The promotion of grassland under the solar panels should therefore serve to improve soil health, and the proposed Landscape and Ecology Management Plan (LEMP) and the monitoring of biodiversity targets, both of which can be secured by condition, would ensure measures are maintained to also improve the biodiversity of the land under and around the panels.
- 10.85 I do not discount the points put that the land is of value for food production, it self-evidently is in productive use now, nor the importance that it has to existing farmers. I address the conflicting demands on the countryside below, but any large-scale solar proposals will compete with other uses of rural land, in this case food production. Nonetheless, the loss of some BMV land conflicts with Policy SS2 of the LPP2. This seeks that development does not result in the loss of

⁵⁸ Blackberry Lane, Pembrokeshire. Ref DNS/3245065

BMV, and this conflict must bring with it some measure of harm, which because of the scale of loss and, in this case, the long-term reversibility, I give limited weight.

Other Matters

- 10.86 I note the concerns of the local Parish Councils, organisations and interested parties on the proposal's effects on other matters including highway safety, future grid connection, ecology and noise.
- 10.87 The appellant provided highway evidence, which included a Transport Statement⁵⁹ as part of the application, and a Construction and Traffic Management Plan (CTMP), which assessed construction and operational traffic levels. This included details of the required HGV numbers specifically set against the elements of plant and materials required for construction. This evidence was assessed by the Local Highway Authority (the LHA) and a number of changes made as a result of matters raised by the LHA and statutory consultees, including CRT. [5.29, 5.30]
- 10.88 These included a specified transport route and timings of deliveries to be set out in a management plan, specified access points to each parcel and associated visibility splays, along with the proposed transfer of loads from HGVs to smaller rigid vehicles for delivery across the canal bridge from the southern to the northern parcel.
- 10.89 The Transport Statement assessed there to be an average of 8 two-way movements over the 36-week construction period, 4 arrivals and 4 departures. Operational traffic for occasional security or maintenance checks would be at around 4 two-way movements per month. These matters were set out in evidence and summarised in a Transport Note provided to the Inquiry⁶⁰. The LHA and Council raised no specific highway safety or capacity issues with the proposals.
- 10.90 Nonetheless, considerable concerns were expressed at the Inquiry and in written submissions with reference to the proposed HGV numbers and the routing. There were concerns about effects on pedestrians on the proposed routes, on other villages and specifically on the village of Gayton itself. Further concerns were raised over potential damage to the roads and particularly the canal bridges. [7.8, 7.25, 7.26, 7.34, 7.44, 7.49, 8.2]
- 10.91 The appellant has clearly set out a proposed route via A-roads from the M1 and then along Towcester Road, Station Road, past the Walnut Tree Inn, and finally along Blisworth Road to the relatively sharp bend past the Church into Milton Road. Access to both parcels would be off Milton Road. This route therefore entirely avoids Blisworth Village and, despite the considerable concerns of some residents about the primary school and those walking to it, it would avoid Bugbrooke Road and Back Lane. I took the opportunity to drive the route and while there are a few parts without footways, and a number of junctions, including that in Gayton itself, I saw nothing to challenge the appellant's position, endorsed by the LHA, regarding the acceptability of the route. The appellant has committed to this route, which can be secured by an enforceable condition. [5.8, 5.29, 5.30]

⁵⁹ CD1.26

⁶⁰ ID9

- 10.92 The assessed HGV numbers were provided by an experienced transport consultancy, were reviewed by the LHA and accepted by the Council. I note specific concerns that they represent an underestimation of traffic levels as the 8 movements per day were perceived to not include other movements, including workers, management, plant deliveries or waste removal, notwithstanding the details set out in the CTMP. While I accept there may be other ancillary movements, I am satisfied that the HGV movements are quantified and this addresses the types of traffic that, on these rural roads, may differ from normal everyday users.
- 10.93 I am also satisfied that the swept-path analysis⁶¹ confirms that such vehicles can negotiate the junction near the Church. I do not underplay the nature of the road here and noted the parking outside of the terraced cottages in front of the Church which narrows the road to a single lane, nor do I suggest that there will never by events involving the construction HGVs that may lead to frustration, delay or minor disturbance to other users. [5.30]
- 10.94 However, this is not the relevant test. Overall, I am satisfied that, for the temporary construction period, the additional HGV movements would be utilising an acceptable route and be of such a level that there would be no unacceptable additional highway safety concerns, nor would the residual cumulative impacts on the road network be severe.
- 10.95 Concerns about the existing poor state of the roads being made worse by the construction traffic can be addressed through the recommended condition for pre- and post-construction surveys and reinstation works. [7.26, 7.34]
- 10.96 There were also a number of concerns raised about the future grid connections. The appellant very clearly identified that they were one of the solar schemes which had a confirmed grid connection and that this was available from 2024. However, the appellant also confirmed that any connection across the two sites or to the grid was a matter for later consenting if required. [5.8, 5.41, 5.42]
- 10.97 I have some sympathy for local residents who question how those connections may be made and whether there would be more above ground infrastructure to achieve this. However, this, as set out by the appellant, is a matter for the DNO and not before this Inquiry. This was accepted by the Council in the SoCG [7.6, 7.28, 7.29]
- 10.98 Turning to ecology, The Council agree that the proposal would represent a BNG of some 195%. I accept that this is challenged by some objectors who consider that the hedgerow element, and possibly trees also, would not be a benefit for a considerable period. Nonetheless, this value was calculated against an agreed Metric and the conversion of semi-improved agricultural land to grassland and meadow is an acknowledged ecological improvement. The introduction of scrub areas and extensive hedgerow and tree planting, the quality and retention of which can be secured by conditions, as can the delivery of the expected gains, will undoubtedly enhance the biodiversity potential of the appeal parcels. [6.30, 7.12, 7.23]
- 10.99 I note specific concerns raised over the effect on some larger species and others requiring open field habitats. While the panel coverage will potentially reduce habitat opportunities for some species, this will be more than offset by

⁶¹ ID10

the improved and protected fringe areas and the hedgerow improvement. Furthermore, while the sites may have had transient species crossing them, deer or foxes for example, these are mobile species, which generally prefer cover. The deer fencing self-evidently will exclude these larger species, but their mobility means that they will utilise other areas. Such matters do not lead to me to a conclusion that there would be anything other than significant ecological benefits associated with the proposal. [7.48, 7.9]

- 10.100 Turning finally to noise. I have dealt with the issue of noise effects on tranquillity as part of the character of the area. It is important also to consider the effect on residential living conditions for those near to the sites. I have previously set out the noise assessments and commentary from the appellant on this. [5.37, 10.30]
- 10.101 As I have set out above, solar farms are not without noise and there are concerns raised by objectors relating to footpaths and properties in the surrounding areas. [7.26, 7.32, 7.44, 8.3]
- 10.102 The noise assessment utilises weekday background readings and modelled potential noise sources, noting that the models are based on openfield, and hence worst-case scenarios. The Council did challenge that the background levels were not fully representative, but this was addressed by the appellant in rebuttal and elsewhere. I am satisfied that there will not be residential noise impacts associated with the northern parcel, albeit there should be consideration of recreational users on the canal towpath and the footpaths that cross the site. I am satisfied that there are opportunities to ensure sufficient separation from the recreational receptors and the finalised layout of panels and inverter/transformers, as required by conditions, has the potential to reflect that.
- 10.103 The modelling of the southern parcel found that with the development, the noise levels at the closest receptors would exceed existing background levels but that internal noise level criteria would be met. However, the appellant's noise evidence considered the exceedance to be in the context of very low background levels that would not exceed a general level set out in British Standards⁶² as desirable for garden areas. Internal noise levels, they argued, would be below the BS8233 guideline levels. Consequently, the appellant considers that there is no need for any further conditions in relation to noise. [5.40]
- 10.104 I accept that it is likely that, based on the modelled layout and parameters, the internal noise level impacts would be minimal. However, the level and tonality of inverter and transformer noise could materially affect the living conditions in garden areas as the level of this is dependant not only on the make and model of the units chosen but their layout in respect of noise sensitive receptors.
- 10.105 Consequently, although I acknowledge the findings of the assessment, and that there is continual improvement in the noise performance of technology used in solar farms, the effects should be fully reviewed when the final layout, notably the type and positioning of transformers and inverters, is known. As this is a requirement of proposed conditions, I consider it necessary, to protect the

⁶² BS8233:2014 - Guidance on sound insulation and noise reduction for buildings

- living conditions of local residents, that a final noise assessment, following agreement on the final layout, is required.
- 10.106 Of the further issues that were also raised, the suggestion that the site would not be decommissioned is not supported, as decommissioning proposals are agreed by the Council and would be secured by condition. Furthermore, I am very aware of a perhaps understandable perception, that roof areas, especially on commercial buildings, should be hosting panels in preference to development on large rural sites. [5.36, 7.23, 7.32, 7.35]
- 10.107 However, such modest levels of generation as could practicably be achieved with all the associated issues of ownership, structural integrity, scale and economics, among other issues, would not, on the basis of current conditions, meet the expectations of the significant, rapid expansion needed in renewable energy generation.

Overall Planning Balance

- 10.108 I have set out above that I consider that the proposal would result in harm to the landscape character and appearance of the area, to heritage assets and to agriculture from the loss of BMV, and would conflict with the development plan.
- 10.109 However, the significant benefits associated with the production of renewable energy, and other benefits must be weighed against this harm. Accordingly, it is necessary to consider these benefits of the proposal, and the compliance with local and national policy and guidance in relation to renewable energy to understand whether the adverse impacts are unacceptable.
- 10.110 As set out in the Background section to this report, this country is actively seeking to promote renewables and reduce its reliance on fossil fuels sources as it moves towards its legal commitment to net-zero. National strategies call on large-scale solar as one of the key technologies to assist in this. The development plan is generally permissive of renewable energy schemes, and the Framework clearly supports increased use and supply of renewable energy. It states that applications should be approved where the impacts are, or can be made, acceptable.
- 10.111 Significant weight must be given to the production of electricity, identified as meeting the expected needs of up to 49.72MW and providing for in excess of 13,000 homes. Some objectors question whether this level of energy would be provided, the number of homes supported or indeed, whether that sort of level is significant. These figures are based on calculations using an annual average, typically around 3,600 kWh for a house, although there are clearly considerable variations in the electricity demand dependant on the size of property, the number of occupants or the type of energy use. Nonetheless, on this basis, the appellant's calculations represent a typical approach to quantifying such benefits and are fully accepted by the Council in the SoCG. Carbon savings, which differ from the electricity requirement for an average home, are estimated in excess of 11,000 tonnes per annum. This too can only be an estimate, but is also accepted by the Council. [7.40, 8.1]
- 10.112 Further benefits would arise from the enhanced biodiversity planting and measures identified at 195% BNG, some of which may be retained after the temporary period of the proposal. This would attract significant weight in

- ecological terms, although not of the level of such weight associated with the renewable energy production.
- 10.113 There would not be a loss of all agricultural use, as it is accepted some could continue during operation of the solar farm, and the site is on land identified in the Framework as of mostly of poorer quality, with better land interspersed across the site and not viable for continued use were a solar proposal to come forward on the rest of the land. The scheme is a temporary one meaning the site could be returned to agricultural use at some stage; however, this carries negligible weight, in light of the proposed length of the temporary period.
- 10.114 Finally, the operation in terms of the construction phase would make some contribution to the economy, albeit it is not clear how much would contribute locally. While I give very limited weight to private investment funding, I do to the employment opportunities it would enable, albeit there will be some lost economic value from the change to the agricultural use of the site. I have therefore found the weight to be given to this benefit quite limited.
- 10.115 There is some disagreement with the Council, despite initial comments in the Officer Report, over benefits to be associated with the suitability of the site. Put simply, I consider that site location is a key factor in the assessment of policy compliance and not a factor associated with planning weight. [6.31]
- 10.116 The countryside is an asset on which there are conflicting demands. Rural areas in particular may be valued for their beauty and the pleasure and health benefits they give to those who access them. They are also the source of the majority of our food and other agricultural products and, in addition, are now expected to meet the need to diversify and decarbonise our energy sector, at least in part. These conflicting needs are clearly present here, with the valued recreational resource of the GUC, the local farmers' desire to see food security and continued productivity from the fields and the passion felt by local residents for the beauty and tranquillity of the countryside accessible on footpaths surrounding the villages. Consequently, while the overall thrust of government policy may be in favour of renewable sources, this does not give them unquestioned primacy over the other demands.
- 10.117 The harm to heritage significance should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. I give considerable importance and weight to the preservation of these assets, but have found that the harm would be at the lower end of less than substantial harm. The production of renewable energy for direct export to the national grid is one of significant public benefit, and, to a lesser extent the biodiversity enhancement would improve the public realm here and carry some positive public weight also. In accordance with the Council's own findings, I would recommend that the Secretary of State finds that the public benefits outweigh the less than substantial harms I have identified to heritage assets.
- 10.118 Turning then to then overall planning balance, the weight to heritage harms must be added to the initially major, but long-term moderate weight associated with harm to the landscape character and appearance, and the limited weight to loss of BMV. However, I have identified significant weight from renewable energy production, significant biodiversity enhancements and other moderate to limited weights in favour of the scheme. Overall, it is my judgement that the benefits would outweigh the harm. The benefits of the

- scheme in combination also amount to material considerations sufficient to outweigh the conflict with the development plan.
- 10.119 I accept that this is a balanced decision and based on relative weights of the benefits against the harms. For the reasons given above I have concluded that planning permission should be granted.

Conditions

- 10.120 There were full discussions at the Inquiry on suitable conditions were the appeal to be allowed. These included the main and interested parties. I am satisfied that, for the reasons stated below, all these conditions meet the relevant tests and, in the event that permission were to be granted, they are recommended as set out in the attached Appendix 4. The draft conditions discussed may have been altered in minor terms so that they comply with the tests or avoid duplication.
- 10.121 Turning to reasons, the relevant conditions are listed in (). In addition to the standard implementation and temporary period conditions (1, 2), I recommend a requirement for compliance with the plans (3), accepting that some plans are to be in general accordance as other conditions seek further details on these matters. Compliance with the recommendations of the ES would also be required (4). These conditions would be necessary to provide certainty.
- 10.122 As the development is a temporary one, the restoration requirement is set out for both the end of that 40-year period or, if export of electricity ceases during that period, at any time before that (5), to minimise impact and ensure restoration. To ensure that the original ecological surveys remain valid, I recommend a condition for updated surveys (6)
- 10.123 To address any highway implications, a Construction Environmental Management Plan would be required to address, HGV routing and timings of construction traffic, among other matters (7). In response to concerns regarding the condition of the road network, a highway survey and reinstatement condition is proposed (8), as well as delivery of the visibility splays and access to the site (17).
- 10.124 For reasons of protecting the character and appearance of the area and biodiversity, commitments made by the appellant to ensure agreed delivery of landscaping and to secure biodiversity enhancements and protect habitats during the scheme would be secured through submission of a detailed scheme (9), as well as specific measures during the construction period (10) and for the operation period, through a Landscape and Ecology Management Plan (11). Tree protection (12) and specific measures to achieve the Biodiversity Net Gain benefits (13) over the period of the proposal are also proposed to be secured by conditions.
- 10.125 To meet the expectations of the landscape and biodiversity requirements and protect the character and appearance of the area, finalised details of the layout and materials to be used would also be required to provide certainty on the positioning of the equipment across the site (14). Similarly, a condition to ensure delivery of the proposed landscaping would be necessary (22).
- 10.126 With regard to noise, the Council remained concerned that the modelling work had not fully categorised the necessary mitigation. While this condition

was contested by the appellant, I have considered its necessity, and for reasons dealt with below, have recommended a condition to require a finalised noise assessment with measures, if required (15), to protect local living conditions. To address the potential for archaeological assets and their identification and recording, an archaeological programme of work would also be required (16).

- 10.127 To address flood risk, a scheme for surface water drainage would be necessary (18, 19). Also, to address the character and appearance of the area, as well as privacy and security matters, a condition would be required to finalise the proposed security system (20), to agree on signage across the site (21), exceptionally, to remove permitted development for additional security elements and unapproved buildings on the site (23) and to prevent the use of external lighting (24). Finally, to address the risk of contamination, a condition to address previously unassessed contamination would be necessary (25).
- 10.128 Conditions 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 and 16 require matters to be approved before development commences. This would be necessary because these conditions address impacts that would occur during construction, or schemes of work that need to be agreed before construction commences in the interests of highway safety, protected species and the delivery of land management commitments, including archaeology, or the living conditions of local residents. The appellant has agreed to these conditions, other than where addressed in this Report.

Inspector's Recommendations

11.1 Accordingly, for the reasons given above, I recommend, on balance, that the appeal should be allowed subject to conditions.

Mike Robins

INSPECTOR

APPENDIX 1: Appearances at the Inquiry

FOR THE APPELLANT:

who called:

David Webster, Landscape and Visual Impact

BSc(Hons) MSc MA CMLI Landscape Planning Associate – Barton

Willmore now Stantec

Nick Pleasant, Planning Policy

BA(Hons) DipTP MRTPI Planning Associate Director – Barton

Willmore now Stantec

FOR WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE:

Hugh Richards of Counsel Instructed by the solicitor for West

Northamptonshire Council

who called:

Stephen Wadsworth Landscape and Visual Impact

BA(Hons) DipLA DipUD CMLI Landscape Consultant - HCUK

Gary Stephens Planning Policy

BA(Hons) MA PGCert UD MRTPI Planning Director - Marrons

INTERESTED PERSONS:

Mr Knibbs Local Resident

Cllr Glanville Gayton Parish Council Mr Clarke Gayton Parish Council

Mr Taylor Local Resident
Mrs Taylor Local Resident
Mr Price Local Resident
Ms Auld Local Resident
Ms Ayres Local Resident
Local Resident
Local Resident

Cllr Cooper District Councillor -Bugbrooke Ward

Duncan Wakelin Local Farmer
Clive Wakelin Local Farmer
Dr Buus Local Resident

APPENDIX 2: Documents submitted during the Inquiry.

| Ref | Document |
|------|---|
| ID1 | Appellant - Opening Statement |
| ID2 | Council - Opening Statement |
| ID3 | Mr Knibbs - Statement |
| ID4 | Cllr Glanville- Statement |
| ID5 | Mr Clarke - Statement |
| ID6 | Mr Taylor- Statement |
| ID7 | Cllr Cooper - Statement |
| ID8 | Dr Buus - Statement |
| ID9 | Appellant – Motion Transport Note |
| ID10 | Appellant - Swept Path Analysis - Gayton |
| ID11 | Agreed draft Conditions |
| ID12 | Council/Appellant - Note on agricultural land |
| ID13 | Council - Closing Statement |
| ID14 | Appellant - Closing Statement |

APPENDIX 3: Core documents

CD1 Application Documents and Plans

| CD | Document | Reference |
|---------|---|-------------------|
| CD1.0 | Completed and signed application form | |
| CD1.1 | CIL Questions | |
| CD1.2 | Planning Statement | |
| | DAS/Plans | |
| CD1.3 | Design and Access Statement | |
| CD1.4 | Site Layout Plan | C0002451_01 Rev C |
| CD1.5 | Infrastructure Layout | C0002451_02 Rev A |
| CD1.6 | Location Plan | C0002451_04 Rev A |
| CD1.7 | Block Plan | C0002451_05 Rev A |
| CD1.8 | Typical Building Plan and Elevations | C0002451_06 Rev A |
| CD1.9 | Typical Section Through Array | C0002451_07 Rev B |
| CD1.10 | Typical Cable Ladder Detail | C0002451_08 Rev A |
| CD1.11 | Typical Fence Detail | C0002451_09 Rev A |
| CD1.12 | Site Context Plan | LN-LP-01 Rev A |
| CD1.13 | Topographical Features Plan | LN-LP-02 Rev A |
| CD1.14 | Landscape Character Plan | LN-LP-03 Rev A |
| CD1.15 | Site Appraisal Plan | LN-LP-04 Rev A |
| CD1.16 | Visual Appraisal Plan | LN-LP-05 Rev A |
| CD1.17 | Zone of Theoretical Visibility Plan | LN-LP-06 Rev A |
| CD1.18 | Landscape Strategy Plan | LN-LP-07 Rev B |
| | Environmental Statement | |
| CD1.19 | EIA Screening Request | |
| CD1.20 | EIA Screening Response from West Northamptonshire Council (22 nd April 2021) | |
| CD1.21 | EIA Screening Direction from the Secretary of State (17 th September 2021) | |
| CD1.22a | Environmental Statement | |
| CD1.22b | Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary | |
| CD1.22c | Environmental Statement Appendices | |
| | Heritage | |
| CD1.23 | Gayton Solar Farm Northants Heritage Desk Based Assessment | |
| | Landscape | |
| CD1.24a | Landscape Visual Impact Assessment Report (and Appendices) | |
| CD1.24b | Landscape Visual Impact Assessment LR Figures 1 - 4 | |
| CD1.24c | Landscape Visual Impact Assessment Plates 5.1-5.22 | |
| CD1.25 | Landscape Strategy Plan | |
| | Transport | |
| CD1.26 | Transport Statement | |
| CD1.27a | Visibility Splays | 2105055-01 |
| CD1.27b | Visibility Splays | 2105055-03 |
| CD1.27c | Visibility Splays | 2105055-04 |

| CD1.28a | Swept Path Analysis | 2105055-05 |
|---------|--|------------|
| CD1.28b | Swept Path Analysis | 2105055-06 |
| | Drainage | |
| CD1.29 | Flood Risk Assessment and Surface Water Drainage | |

CD2 Additional/Amended Reports and/or Plans Submitted After Validation

| CD | Document | Reference |
|--------|---|------------------|
| CD2.0 | Email regarding Road accident Data (24th November 2021) | |
| CD2.1 | Visibility Splay | 2105055-01 Rev A |
| CD2.2 | Flood Risk & Drainage Note (28th July 2022) | |
| CD2.3 | Winter Bird Report | |
| CD2.4 | Glint and Glare Study | |
| CD2.5 | Trial Trench Eval Interim Report | |
| CD2.6 | Landscape Rebuttal (Barton Willmore) | |
| CD2.7 | Southern Green LVIA Review on behalf of Anesco | |
| CD2.8 | MA Review of Updated LVIA | |
| CD2.9 | MA Review of Southern Green LVIA | |
| CD2.10 | Noise Impact Assessment | |
| CD2.11 | Noise Rebuttal (14 th July 2022) | |
| CD2.12 | Construction and Traffic Management Plan | |
| CD2.13 | Email clarification regarding highways matters (6 th September 2022) | |

CD3 Committee Report and Decision Notice

| CD | Document | Reference |
|-------|---------------------------------|-----------|
| CD3.0 | Decision Notice | |
| CD3.1 | Officer Report | |
| CD3.2 | Speakers List Agenda Supplement | |

CD4 The Development Plan and Policy Documents

| CD | Document | Reference |
|-------|--|-----------|
| | Development Plan and local supplementary documents | |
| CD4.0 | West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Local Plan (Part 1) | |
| CD4.1 | South Northamptonshire Local Plan (Part 2) | |
| CD4.2 | Energy Efficiency (Part 1) and Low Carbon and Renewable Energy (Part 2) Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013). | |
| | National policy and guidance | |
| CD4.3 | National Planning Policy Framework (2021) | |
| CD4.4 | Planning Practice Guidance | |
| CD4.5 | National Policy Statement for Energy (EN-1) (2011) | |
| CD4.6 | Draft National Policy Statement for Energy (EN-1) (2023) | |
| CD4.7 | National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy (EN-3) (2011) | |

| CD4.8 | Draft National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy (EN-3) (2023) | |
|--------|--|--|
| | Other guidance and relevant documents | |
| CD4.9 | GLVIA, Third Edition (2013) | |
| CD4.10 | Technical Guidance Note 02/21: Assessing landscape value outside national designations | |
| CD4.11 | Technical Note 01/21 – GLVIA Webinar Q&As (Landscape Institute, 2021) | |
| CD4.12 | An approach to landscape sensitivity assessment – to inform spatial planning and land management (Natural England, 2019) | |
| CD4.13 | NCA Profile: 89 Northamptonshire Vales | |
| CD4.14 | South Northamptonshire Landscape Character Assessment (2020) | |
| CD4.15 | Northampton Urban Fringe Landscape Character & Sensitivity Study (2018) | |
| CD4.16 | Northampton Green Infrastructure Plan (2016) | |
| CD4.17 | Northampton Landscape Sensitivity and Green Infrastructure Study (2009) | |
| CD4.18 | Grand Union Canal Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan (2014) | |
| CD4.19 | Grand Union Canal Conservation Area Character Map | |
| CD4.20 | Gayton Conservation Area Appraisal & Management Plan (2016) | |
| CD4.21 | Gayton Conservation Area Map | |
| CD4.22 | Landscape Institution Technical Information Note: Tranquillity – An overview – Technical Information Note 01/2017 (Revised) (March 2017) | |
| CD4.23 | Northamptonshire – Current Landscape Assessment 2005 | |
| CD4.24 | West Northants Strategic Plan Green Infrastructure and Natural Capital Evidence (January 2022) | |

CD5 Appeal Documents

| CD | Document | Reference |
|--------|---|-------------------|
| CD5.0 | Planning Appeal Form | |
| CD5.1 | Appellant Statement of Case | |
| CD5.2 | West Northamptonshire Council Statement of Case | |
| CD5.3 | Statement of Common Ground (Planning) | |
| CD5.4 | Statement of Common Ground (Landscape) | |
| CD5.5 | Proof of Evidence by Nick Pleasant (Appellant, Planning) | |
| CD5.6 | Proof of Evidence by David Webster (Appellant, Landscape) | |
| CD5.7 | Proof of Evidence by Gary Stephens (WNC, Planning) | |
| CD5.8 | Proof of Evidence by (WNC, Landscape) | |
| CD5.9 | Agreed List of Planning Conditions | |
| CD5.10 | Revised Site Layout Plan | C0002451_01 Rev G |
| CD5.11 | Revised Landscape Strategy Plan | LN-LP-07 Rev C |
| CD5.12 | Landscape Character Plan | LN-LP-03 Rev B |
| CD5.13 | Appeal Site Appraisal Plan | LN-LP-04 Rev B |
| CD5.14 | Visual Appraisal Plan | LN-LP-05 Rev B |
| CD5.15 | Zone of Theoretical Visibility Plan | LN-LP-06 Rev A |

| CD5.16 | Site Visit Route Plan | LN-LP-08 |
|--------|----------------------------|----------|
| CD5.17 | Site Appraisal Photographs | |
| CD5.18 | Site Context Photographs | |

CD6 Relevant Appeal Decisions

| CD No | Document | Reference |
|-------|---|-----------|
| CD6.0 | Secretary of State's Decision Letter and Inspector's Report – New Works Lane Telford (APP/C3240/W/22/3293667) (27th March 2023) | |
| CD6.1 | Secretary of State's Letter and Inspector's Report – Development Consent Order at Little Crow Solar Park, Scunthorpe (5 th April 2022) | |
| CD6.2 | Appeal Decision – East Hanningfield, Chelmsford (APP/W1525/W/22/3300222) (6 th February 2023) | |
| CD6.3 | Appeal Decision – Land adjacent to the Grand Union Canal, Bugbrooke (APP/W2845/W/22/3307647) (17 th April 2023) | |
| | | |

APPENDIX 4: Recommended conditions should permission be granted.

- 1) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
- 2) The development hereby permitted shall cease to have effect no later than 40 years from the date when electricity is first exported from any of the solar panels to the electricity grid ('First Export Date'). Written notification of the First Export Date shall be given to the local planning authority within 14 days of its occurrence.
- 3) The development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved plans and details. The approved plans and details are:

Site Layout (drawing C0002451-01 Rev G)

Location Plan (drawing C0002451-04 Rev A)

Block Plan (drawing C0002451-05 Rev A)

And shall be carried out in general accordance with the following plans and details:

Typical buildings Plan and Elevations (drawing C0002451-06 Rev A)

Typical Section Through Array (drawing C0002451-07 Rev B)

Typical Cable Ladder Detail (drawing C0002451-08 Rev A)

Typical Fence Detail (drawing C0002451-09 Rev A)

Landscape Strategy Plan (LN-LP-07 Rev C)

- 4) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the recommendations, mitigation measures and enhancements set out in section 5 & 6 of the Environmental Statement (October 2021).
- 5) Within 12 months preceding the date of expiry of the permission hereby granted, a Scheme shall be submitted to the local planning authority for its written approval for the removal of the solar panel(s) and associated equipment and the restoration of (that part of) the site to agricultural use. The approved Scheme of restoration shall then be fully implemented within the timescale set out in the scheme.
 - If any part of the solar array ceases to be used to generate electricity for a continuous period of 12 months, a Scheme shall be submitted to the local planning authority for its written approval within 3 months from the end of the 12-month period for the removal of the solar panel(s) and associated equipment and the restoration of (that part of) the site to agricultural use.
- 6) No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation clearance) until the site has been thoroughly checked by a suitably qualified ecologist to establish any changes in the presence, abundance and impact on protected species. The survey shall be undertaken no earlier than 2 months prior to the planned commencement of development.
 - If the survey results identify a material change then the survey, together with any necessary changes to the mitigation plan or method statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing the local planning authority. Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
- 7) No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation clearance) until a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP shall include at a minimum:

- a) The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
- b) The routeing of HGVs to and from the site;
- c) Loading and unloading of plant and materials;
- d) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
- e) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate;
- f) Wheel washing facilities including type of operation (automated, water recycling etc) and road sweeping;
- g) Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction;
- h) A scheme for recycling/ disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction works;
- i) Delivery, demolition and construction working hours.

The approved CEMP shall be adhered to throughout the construction period for the development.

- 8) No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation clearance) until a highway condition survey of the construction traffic route as approved under condition 7 from Towcester Road to the site entrance(s) has been undertaken and provided to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
 - Within 6 months of the construction phase being completed a post-construction highways condition survey of that route shall be provided to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Should the condition survey identify any material changes in the highway condition directly resulting from the development, then the survey shall set out a scheme and timeframe for the remedy of such changes.
- 9) Notwithstanding the approved Landscaping Strategy Plan (drawing LN-LP-07 Rev C), no development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation clearance) until a detailed scheme for landscaping the site has been provided to and approved in writing by the local planning authority which shall include:
 - a) further details of the proposed tree and shrub planting including their species, number, sizes and positions, together with grass seeded/turfed areas and written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass establishment i.e. depth of topsoil, mulch etc);
 - b) further details of the existing trees and hedgerows to be retained or felled, including existing and proposed soil levels at the base of each tree/hedgerow and the minimum distance between the base of the tree and the nearest edge of any excavation; and
 - c) details of the hard landscaping including access tracks within the development.

All species used shall be native species of UK provenance. Such details shall be provided prior to the development commencing. The approved scheme shall be implemented by the end of the first planting season following commencement of the development.

- 10) No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation clearance) until a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP: Biodiversity shall include as a minimum:
 - a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities;
 - b) Identification of 'Biodiversity Protection Zones';
 - c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method statements);
 - d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features;
 - e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to oversee works;
 - f) Responsible persons and lines of communication;
 - g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly competent person;
 - h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs

The approved CEMP: Biodiversity shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details.

- 11) No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation clearance) until a Landscape and Ecology Management Plan (LEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Thereafter, the LEMP shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
- 12) No development shall take place until the existing tree(s) to be retained have been protected in the following manner unless otherwise previously agreed in writing by the local planning authority;
 - a) Protective barriers shall be erected around the tree(s) to a distance not less than a radius of 12 times the trunk diameter when measured at 1.5m above natural ground level (on the highest side) for single stemmed trees and for multi-stemmed trees 10 times the trunk diameter just above the root flare.
 - b) The barriers shall comply with the specification set out in British Standard BS5837: 2012 'Trees in Relation to Construction Recommendations'.
 - c) The barriers shall be erected before any equipment, machinery or materials are brought onto the site for the purposes of development [and / or demolition] and shall be maintained until all equipment, machinery and surplus material has been removed from the site.
 - d) Nothing shall be stored or placed within the areas protected by the barriers erected in accordance with this condition and the ground levels within those areas shall not be altered, nor shall any excavations be made, without the written consent of the local planning authority.
- 13) Prior to the commencement of development, a Habitat Retention, Enhancement and Creation Scheme which accords with the agreed Biodiversity Net Gain calculations shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

The proposed Scheme shall include measures for the implementation and oversight of works and monitoring and reporting of the biodiversity in years 1, 3,

- 5, 10 and 15 following the first export date. The Scheme shall be implemented as approved.
- Should the expected biodiversity net gains not be achieved then a revised set of habitat retention, enhancement and creation measures shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The amended measures shall be implemented and retained in accordance with the approved details.
- 14) No development shall take place until full details of the final locations, design and materials to be used for the panel arrays, inverters, control room, substations, power conversion system, fencing, and any other permanent infrastructure has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Subsequently, the development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
- 15) No development shall take place until a noise assessment that outlines the likely impact, and the measures necessary to ensure that the noise does not unacceptably affect the identified residential receptors on Blisworth Road and Milton Road has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The assessment shall be determined by measurement or prediction in accordance with the guidance and methodology set out in BS4142: 2014 and other relevant standards.
 - Once approved the use hereby permitted shall be operated in accordance with the approved details and thereafter maintained in this approved state at all times.
- 16) No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the applicant and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
 - This written scheme will include the following components, completion of each of which will trigger the phased discharging of the condition:
 - a) Approval of a Written Scheme of Investigation;
 - b) Fieldwork in accordance with the agreed Written Scheme of Investigation;
 - c) Completion of a Post-Excavation Assessment report and approval of an approved Updated Project Design: to be submitted within six months of the completion of fieldwork, unless otherwise agreed in advance with the Planning Authority;
 - d) Completion of analysis, preparation of site archive ready for deposition at a store (Northamptonshire ARC) approved by the local planning authority, production of an archive report, and submission of a publication report: to be completed within two years of the completion of fieldwork, unless otherwise agreed in advance with the local planning authority.
- 17) Before construction commences on site, access visibility splays shall be provided in accordance with Drawing Nos 2105055-01A, 2105055-03, 2105055-04.
 - These splays shall thereafter be kept clear of all obstacles or obstructions for the duration of the operations, including the decommissioning and restoration phase.
- 18) Before construction commences a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and hydro geological context of the development, shall be submitted to the local planning authority for approval in writing. This shall include:
 - a) Details (i.e. designs, diameters, invert and cover levels, gradients, dimensions and other identified matters) of all elements of the proposed drainage system,

- to include pipes, inspection chambers, outfalls/inlets swales and attenuation basins;
- b) Details of the drainage system are to be accompanied by full and appropriately cross-referenced supporting calculations that demonstrate the discharge to watercourses from the individual drainage catchments is at Obar for all events;
- c) Infiltration test results to BRE 365;
- d) Demonstration that any flooding for the 1 in 100yr plus 40% climate change storm event remains on site;
- e) A detailed scheme for the maintenance and upkeep of every element of the surface water drainage system proposed on the site, including details of any drainage elements that will require replacement within the lifetime of the proposed development.

The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved details and the maintenance plan shall be carried out in full thereafter.

- 19) Prior to the development being brought into operation, a Verification Report for the installed surface water drainage system for the site based on the Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy shall be submitted in writing by a suitably qualified independent drainage engineer and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The details shall include:
 - a) Any departure from the agreed design is keeping with the approved principles;
 - b) As-Built Drawings and accompanying photos;
 - c) Copies of any Statutory Approvals, such as Land Drainage Consent for Discharges.
- 20) Prior to the development being brought into operation, further details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority regarding the proposed security system. This shall include:
 - a) Details of the proposed security system specification and location;
 - b) Details of who will monitor security of the site and their proposed methods for responding to alerts.
- 21) Prior to the development being brought into operation, details of signage and other available information around the site for the general public shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include as a minimum the size, location, and content of any signage to be installed.
- 22) All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the commencement of the development, and shall be maintained for a period of ten years from the completion of the development. Any trees and/or shrubs which within a period of five years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless the local planning authority gives written consent for any variation.
- 23) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order), no CCTV cameras, fencing, outbuildings or other structures shall be erected (aside from those shown on the approved plans), without prior planning permission from the local planning authority.

- 24) No external lights/floodlights shall be erected on the land.
- 25) If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the site, no further development shall be carried out until full details of a remediation strategy detailing how the unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Thereafter the remediation strategy shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.



Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities

www.gov.uk/dluhc

RIGHT TO CHALLENGE THE DECISION IN THE HIGH COURT

These notes are provided for guidance only and apply only to challenges under the legislation specified. If you require further advice on making any High Court challenge, or making an application for Judicial Review, you should consult a solicitor or other advisor or contact the Crown Office at the Royal Courts of Justice, Queens Bench Division, Strand,London,WC2 2LL (0207 947 6000).

The attached decision is final unless it is successfully challenged in the Courts. The Secretary of State cannot amend or interpret the decision. It may be redetermined by the Secretary of State only if the decision is quashed by the Courts. However, if it is redetermined, it does not necessarily follow that the original decision will be reversed.

SECTION 1: PLANNING APPEALS AND CALLED-IN PLANNING APPLICATIONS

The decision may be challenged by making an application for permission to the High Court under section 288 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (the TCP Act).

Challenges under Section 288 of the TCP Act

With the permission of the High Court under section 288 of the TCP Act, decisions on called-in applications under section 77 of the TCP Act (planning), appeals under section 78 (planning) may be challenged. Any person aggrieved by the decision may question the validity of the decision on the grounds that it is not within the powers of the Act or that any of the relevant requirements have not been complied with in relation to the decision. An application for leave under this section must be made within six weeks from the day after the date of the decision.

SECTION 2: ENFORCEMENT APPEALS

Challenges under Section 289 of the TCP Act

Decisions on recovered enforcement appeals under all grounds can be challenged under section 289 of the TCP Act. To challenge the enforcement decision, permission must first be obtained from the Court. If the Court does not consider that there is an arguable case, it may refuse permission. Application for leave to make a challenge must be received by the Administrative Court within 28 days of the decision, unless the Court extends this period.

SECTION 3: AWARDS OF COSTS

A challenge to the decision on an application for an award of costs which is connected with a decision under section 77 or 78 of the TCP Act can be made under section 288 of the TCP Act if permission of the High Court is granted.

SECTION 4: INSPECTION OF DOCUMENTS

Where an inquiry or hearing has been held any person who is entitled to be notified of the decision has a statutory right to view the documents, photographs and plans listed in the appendix to the Inspector's report of the inquiry or hearing within 6 weeks of the day after the date of the decision. If you are such a person and you wish to view the documents you should get in touch with the office at the address from which the decision was issued, as shown on the letterhead on the decision letter, quoting the reference number and stating the day and time you wish to visit. At least 3 days notice should be given, if possible.